OECD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE

Working Paper No. 229 (Formerly Webdoc No. 17)

PROVIDING LOW-COST INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ACCESS TO RURAL COMMUNITIES IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: WHAT WORKS? WHAT PAYS?

by

Georg Caspary and David O'Connor



Research programme on: Globalising Technologies and Domestic Entrepreneurship in Developing Countries

DEVELOPMENT CENTRE WORKING PAPERS

This series of working papers is intended to disseminate the Development Centre's research findings rapidly among specialists in the field concerned. These papers are generally available in the original English or French, with a summary in the other language.

Comments on this paper would be welcome and should be sent to the OECD Development Centre, Le Seine Saint-Germain, 12 boulevard des Îles, 92130 Issy-les-Moulineaux, France.



THE OPINIONS EXPRESSED AND ARGUMENTS EMPLOYED IN THIS DOCUMENT ARE THE SOLE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE AUTHOR AND DO NOT NECESSARILY REFLECT THOSE OF THE OECD OR OF THE GOVERNMENTS OF ITS MEMBER COUNTRIES

CENTRE DE DÉVELOPPEMENT DOCUMENTS DE TRAVAIL

Cette série de documents de travail a pour but de diffuser rapidement auprès des spécialistes dans les domaines concernés les résultats des travaux de recherche du Centre de Développement. Ces documents ne sont disponibles que dans leur langue originale, anglais ou français ; un résumé du document est rédigé dans l'autre langue.

Tout commentaire relatif à ce document peut être adressé au Centre de Développement de l'OCDE, Le Seine Saint-Germain, 12 boulevard des Îles, 92130 Issyles-Moulineaux, France.



LES IDÉES EXPRIMÉES ET LES ARGUMENTS AVANCÉS DANS CE DOCUMENT SONT CEUX DE L'AUTEUR ET NE REFLÈTENT PAS NÉCESSAIREMENT CEUX DE L'OCDE OU DES GOUVERNEMENTS DE SES PAYS MEMBRES

Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this material should be made to: Head of Publications Service, OECD 2, rue André-Pascal, 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16, France

© OECD 2003

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
RÉSUMÉ	5
SUMMARY	7
I. INTRODUCTION	8
II. THE ROLE OF ICTs IN DEVELOPMENT	10
III. ORGANISATIONAL MODELS FOR LOW-COST ICT ACCESS IN RURAL AREAS	12
IV. TECHNOLOGY OPTIONS FOR RURAL ICT ACCESS	21
V. ADDRESSING DEMAND AND SUPPLY-SIDE CONSTRAINTS TO WIDER ICT DIFFUSION	27
VI. PUBLIC POLICY FOR RURAL ICT ACCESS	32
VII. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	35
ANNEX I	36
ANNEX II	38
BIBLIOGRAPHY	40
OTHER TITLES IN THE SERIES/ AUTRES TITRES DANS LA SÉRIE	43

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Albrecht Wald of the Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KfW), Jean-Marie Blanchard of Alcatel France, and Ichiro Tambo of the OECD Development Co-operation Directorate for helpful comments on earlier drafts. Naturally, remaining errors are the sole responsibility of the authors.

RÉSUMÉ

Les zones rurales des pays en développement sont les dernières à attendre encore la révolution des technologies de l'information. Le taux de pénétration du téléphone et d'Internet reste encore minime par rapport à celui des pays développés. Les moyens limités de communication électronique avec le reste du monde sont une source d'isolement parmi d'autres — mais importante — des communautés et des économies rurales par rapport aux dynamiques de l'intégration nationale et mondiale. En l'absence de routes et d'électricité, améliorer l'accès aux TIC n'a qu'un intérêt limité. A l'inverse, dès que ces éléments d'infrastructures existent, les avantages se cumulent.

Fournir des TIC dans les zones rurales est généralement plus coûteux que dans des zones urbaines plus peuplées ; les moyens des abonnés potentiels semblent aussi plus limités. Ces dernières années, un certain nombre d'expériences intéressantes ont été entreprises pour développer le téléphone à bas prix et, dans certains cas, l'accès à Internet des communautés rurales à faible revenu. Ce document rend compte de quelques-unes de ces expériences, en s'intéressant notamment à leur pérennité financière.

Des enquêtes auprès des ménages ruraux sur leur disposition à payer pour des services téléphoniques montrent qu'ils sont vraisemblablement viables sur le plan commercial. Les systèmes de concession pour un accès partagé semblent être les plus intéressants d'un point de vue économique. Grâce à l'uniformisation et à l'agrégation de la demande, ces systèmes permettent de tabler sur des économies d'échelle pour l'achat du matériel informatique et des logiciels mais aussi au niveau de l'assistance technique ; ils assurent également un meilleur pouvoir de négociation des frais d'interconnexion et du prix des lignes louées. Ces modèles ouvrent des perspectives aux petits entrepreneurs, tout en incitant à la réduction des dépenses et à l'adoption d'une gestion financière rigoureuse. Si l'on ne veut pas porter un coup d'arrêt à l'innovation cependant, les modèles de concession doivent s'accompagner dune certaine souplesse dans la mise en oeuvre au niveau local.

Alors que les économies rurales sont probablement moins complexes d'un point de vue technologique que les économies urbanisées des pays développés, la valeur de l'obtention en temps et en heure d'une information est tout aussi importante — voire même plus — en termes relatifs. Au-delà de bénéfices purement économiques, ce système peut avoir d'importantes retombées sociales, en permettant un contact longue distance avec des membres de la famille installés à l'étranger ou dans une grande ville. L'expérience des femmes bangladaises, qui constituent la majorité des opérateurs téléphoniques dans les villages du réseau Grameen, montre que le statut social peut sortir renforcé grâce au contrôle exercé sur une ressource précieuse — l'accès à l'information.

Les pouvoirs publics doivent opérer de délicats arbitrages entre les demandes concurrentes qui pèsent sur les rares recettes fiscales et les fonds empruntés. Heureusement, dans le cas des télécommunications et d'Internet, les besoins d'investissements publics sont moins lourds que pour la construction de routes et le raccordement à l'électricité dans les zones rurales. Un cadre réglementaire approprié et des processus d'appel d'offres bien conçus pour équiper les segments les moins profitables du marché devraient contribuer à attirer les investisseurs privés, y compris dans les zones mal desservies. En dernier ressort, c'est sans doute la voie la plus courte vers l'objectif ultime de « services universels ».

SUMMARY

Rural areas of the developing world are the last frontier of the information technology revolution. Telephone and internet penetration there remains a small fraction of what it is in the developed world. Limited means of electronic communication with the outside world are just one source of isolation of rural communities and economies from the forces of national and global integration, albeit an important one. Without roads and electricity, the benefits of extending ICT access would be greatly diminished. Conversely, where these other elements of infrastructure are in place, those benefits can be multiplied.

The costs of ICT provision to rural areas tend to be higher than to more densely populated urban areas, and the ability to pay of potential subscribers lower. In recent years, a number of interesting experiments has been initiated to extend low-cost telephone and, in some cases, internet access to low-income rural communities. This paper reviews some of these, with a particular emphasis on whether they are likely to prove financially sustainable.

Surveys of rural households' willingness to pay for telephone service point to its potential commercial viability. Franchise models of shared-access provision would appear to have the most favourable economics. Through standardisation and demand aggregation, they offer the prospect of reaping economies of scale in hardware and software procurement as well as in provision of technical support, and enhanced bargaining power in negotiating interconnection fees and leased line prices. Such models provide opportunities to small entrepreneurs, at the same time creating incentives to both cost containment and rigorous financial management. If innovation is not to be stymied, however, the franchise model needs to allow for flexible local variation in implementation.

While rural economies may be less complex technologically than the highly urbanised economies of the developed world, the value of timely information can be just as high — if not higher — in relative terms. Besides the strictly economic benefits, there can be important social benefits of maintaining long-distance contact with family members working abroad or in the city. The experience of Bangladeshi women who make up the majority of village phone operators for the Grameen network suggests that social status can be enhanced by virtue of control over a valuable resource — information access.

Governments need to consider the difficult tradeoffs among competing uses of scarce tax revenues and borrowed funds. Fortunately, in the case of telecoms and the internet, there is not the same need for substantial public investment that there is in rural roads and electricity. An adequate regulatory framework and well-designed contractual bidding process for supplying less profitable segments of the market should go a long way towards attracting private investment, including in underserved areas. In the end, this is likely to be the most direct path towards the ultimate goal of "universal service".

I. INTRODUCTION

Telecommunications access contributes positively and significantly to economic growth (cf. Canning and Pedroni, 1999). The internet is too new to permit comparable assessment of its long-run growth impact. This paper takes the potential economic benefits of ICT access as a given; the rapid growth in mobile telephone and internet use in many low-income countries suggests there is a sizeable pent-up demand for modern communications technologies. The fact remains, however, that there are enormous gaps in ICT access not only between developed and developing countries, but also between urban and rural areas of developing countries. To some degree these differences may reflect differences in the returns to technology use in different environments. There are, however, technical difficulties in providing ICT access to rural populations of the developing world that often raise the unsubsidised costs beyond what they are for typical urban users. The added supply costs on the one side confront the low incomes, hence ability to pay, on the other. How effectively is this dilemma been addressed? How do various organisational models of low-cost rural ICT provision compare in terms of both affordability and sustainability? What technical options are most promising in specific circumstances? These are the questions addressed here.

The private return to investing in rural telecommunications is not necessarily more attractive than that to investing in rural roads. Both face the same problem of a high fixed investment that is difficult to recover in an acceptable timeframe, given the low user densities of many rural areas. Of course, roads have the additional characteristic that, while access may be technically excludable, free access is the norm, making cost recovery by a private investor impossible. The government must generally provide rural roads if they are to be provided at all. As for rural telecommunications, with new transmission technologies, there is greater scope for involvement of private investors, since the up-front costs of network extension are not quite so prohibitive — e.g. with wireless networks there is no need for laying cable to remote areas — and because access to and payment for telecommunications users who do not pay). The economics of rural telecoms are changing, but the question remains whether market forces alone will suffice to extend rural ICT access at a sufficiently rapid rate to meet expectations.

The paper is organised as follows. The next section briefly enumerates the main channels through which ICTs are thought to benefit rural communities. The following section outlines the main challenges faced by would-be ICT infrastructure builders and service providers in low-income rural areas and describes the main organisational models of ICT access provision, with a particular focus on their financial sustainability. Section IV examines the technology options, both for transmission and for end-user devices. Section V suggests ways of addressing key demand- and supply-side constraints to broader rural ICT access, including the financing of "universal service". Section VI discusses possible policy instruments to support more rapid ICT diffusion, with a strong emphasis on telecoms regulatory reform. Section VII summarises and concludes. Annex Tables summarise *i*) the main features of the contending technical options for low-cost rural telephony and internet access and *ii*) low-cost electricity supply options for rural telecentres.

II. THE ROLE OF ICTs IN DEVELOPMENT

Before turning to the "what works? what pays?", let us consider first the "what for?" of rural ICT access. What need do poor rural communities in the developing world have for telephones, computers and the internet (henceforth, ICT)? How important are these technologies to their social and economic well-being?

As Hardy (1980) argues, if telephones contribute at all to economic development, it is most probably through the expansion they make possible of social networks beyond the immediate neighbourhood, the better co-ordination of entrepreneurs over long distances, and the timely access they can provide to valuable information (particularly but not only price information)¹. As for price information, take a typical Asian rice farmer, with an average landholding of one hectare, an average yield of 4 000 kg per hectare, and two crops a year. If the farmgate paddy price is \$0.16 per kg., then a one-cent increase would raise the farmer's annual rice-crop income by roughly 6 per cent. The questions remain of whether the telephone or internet can enable the farmer consistently to obtain a higher price than otherwise and, if so, how much higher. There is substantial anecdotal evidence to suggest that timely price information can make a major difference to earning prospects, but more systematic statistical analysis would be helpful. The evidence suggests that the utility of ICT access extends beyond timely agricultural price information. In rural areas of Bangladesh, for example, where overseas remittances are a very important supplement to local incomes, arranging low-cost funds transfer and conversion to local currency at a favourable exchange rate can be important benefits of ICT access.

The internet is an enhanced means of acquiring and sharing useful information and of multilateral communication (as opposed to the bilateral sort characteristic of the telephone). Weak information infrastructure, just like weak transport infrastructure, can reduce attractiveness of merchandise trade with particular areas. Evidence from Botswana and Zimbabwe shows that areas lacking telephone access see significantly less entrepreneurial activity than those with access (Kenny, 2001). ICTs can diminish — though generally not completely overcome — the isolation of rural communities. For example, crop price information transmitted by telephone or internet from the nearest urban centre may permit a better timing of trips to markets, but the trips may still take an inordinate amount of time in the absence of quality roads, not to mention motorised transport. These two forms of infrastructure are thus strongly complementary. Fully exploiting the benefits of one depends on having access to the other.

^{1.} Leff (1984) argues that, by providing a broader information base for decision making, ICTs can make risk more calculable for entrepreneurs, including farmers.

With the internet boom of the late 1990s, much speculation surrounded the developmental potential of this global network. Anecdotes were rife in the popular press and in the grey literature about artisans in remote areas of developing countries being able to market their handicrafts, music, etc., directly to customers via the internet. While there have been occasional success stories, in general analyses have tended to exaggerate the potential benefits by failing to take fully into account that *i*) only a relatively small number of goods and services can be directly distributed via the internet, *viz.* those (like audio and video recordings, books, drawings, data) that can be digitised, *ii*) for other goods the rural artisans continue to have to rely on intermediary agents (at the very least shippers) to get their goods to market, and *iii*) developed country buyers are accustomed to paying for purchases with credit/debit cards, which developing country vendors must be able and willing to accept as means of payment while ensuring the security of customer financial information (Goldstein and O'Connor, 2000).

Above all, reaping the potential benefits of the internet presupposes that the problem of low-cost access in rural areas and other low-income communities has been resolved. In addition to the question of cost, the problem of the quality of access should not be underestimated: especially in remote areas of developing countries, cables tend to be in bad repair, and international access to the internet often very limited. The nearest server may well be farther than a local phone call away. The combination of these factors tends to make internet access very slow and costly.

While the internet may have been excessively hyped during the dotcom boom, there are certainly valuable uses for the technology. It is an important instrument for coordinating decisions and arranging procurement along global supply chains, to which developing country companies are increasingly linked. Also, local communities can reap advantages from ICTs inasmuch as they improve the speed, quality, and responsiveness of governments to their citizens, enhance accessibility to government services (UNDP, 2001), and facilitate civil society participation in public debates and influence on decision making processes. The Indian state of Andhra Pradesh has set up internet-based Integrated Citizen Service Centres. The services provided in these centres include bill payment; issuing certificates, permits and licenses; public information; and administration procedures. Moreover, ICTs can facilitate the effective provision of public services — e.g. in the case of education through distance learning, or in the health sector through providing fast and cheap access to specialists.

Finally, ICTs have proved to be a force for democratisation in some communities and countries. For example, the Bangladeshi women — most often poor — who make up the majority of phone operators for the Grameen Village Phone network have experienced an enhancement of their social status by virtue of their privileged access to a means of acquiring valuable information (Aminuzamman, 2002). The internet is more difficult for government authorities to control and censor than radio, TV or print media, and excessive control comes at an economic cost (e.g. by discouraging foreign investment). Its vital role as an up-to-date, independent, potentially life-saving information source has been demonstrated during the ongoing SARS (severe acute respiratory syndrome) epidemic in China, with the WHO website at first providing a more complete picture of the extent of the crisis than did official government information sources. The internet has tended to empower civil society organisations that can make effective use of the technology to share information, disseminate their views, and co-ordinate action.

III. ORGANISATIONAL MODELS FOR LOW-COST ICT ACCESS IN RURAL AREAS

This section asks whether there are prospects to supply ICT access to low-income communities at low cost and at the same time on a financially sustainable basis. The task of providing ICT access is subject to particular challenges in rural areas of developing countries. These challenges include:

- Remoteness, leading to high start-up and maintenance costs, as well as lack of electricity, so that computers in rural areas often require generators and voltage stabilisers;
- Low population density, which again negatively impacts upon costs;
- Lack of relevant human capital (in particular technicians for maintenance and repair). Consequently, costs are again raised since the equipment used must be extremely robust;
- Low earning capacity of rural population, such that considerations of commercial viability could lead to firms having to charge prices which at best a tiny minority could afford.

Given these problems, the aim of universal telecommunications — not to mention internet — access in developing countries would appear to be a remote one. Nonetheless, there are some promising new experiments that could potentially evolve into a commercially viable model for provision of rural access. Three broad institutional approaches to rural ICT provision are discussed here, the Grameen Village Phones in Bangladesh, the telecentre concept and variations on that theme, and the n-Logue multitier franchise model in India.

a) Grameen Village Phones

One of the best-known experiments in extending telephone access to the poor has been undertaken by Grameen Telecom (a member of the Grameen Group). Grameen Telecom (GT) uses two main methods of extending phone access: firstly, the provision of phones directly to potential subscribers (often businesses) and, secondly, the leasing of phones to Grameen Bank² members who then provide telephone services on a fee-for-service basis to the rest of their community (the "Village Pay Phone" — VPP — system).

^{2.} Grameen Bank is best known for its successful microfinance programme targeted at poor rural women of Bangladesh, the model having been replicated throughout the world over the past decade.

Service provision to direct subscribers rests on the idea that there are many potential sources of demand for telephone service in the rural areas that are currently going unmet. These include health centres, secondary schools and colleges, large farmers, and local businessmen.

The VPP initiative of GT combines the Grameen Bank's (GB) expertise in villagebased micro-enterprise and micro-credit with the latest GSM digital wireless technology of a sister company, Grameen Phone (GP), which primarily services the urban mobile phone market. Grameen Phone has become the country's dominant mobile carrier, providing services in urban areas and along the major railway routes via a network of cellular towers linked by fiber-optic cable. It has approximately 600 000 subscribers. GT and GB work together towards the dual objective: to help the latter's members shift from relatively low-yield traditional ventures (mostly animal husbandry and agricultural activities) into the technology sector, and to provide whole villages with connectivity.

One cause of reluctance on the part of commercial telecoms operators to extend access to low-income rural communities is the difficult logistics of bill collection. The GB network is already extensive, and the information the bank collects on creditworthiness of its customers provides a strong basis for judging the trustworthiness of prospective telephone operators. Among the criteria GT uses for selection of VPP operators are: at least two years as a GB member and a record of on-time loan repayments. GT provides the phones and related equipment (approx. value: \$420), while GB provides a loan of about \$300 to the prospective VPP operator. Repayment with interest (at 22 per cent) is made from the operator's cash flow, with a three-year grace period (Aminuzzaman, 2002).

The phones are made available to all users in the village, whether for outgoing or incoming calls, all on a fee-paying basis. The operator charges the market retail rate, while GT charges her half that rate, while buying bulk airtime from GP at a discounted rate. Each month, an average of 70 customers uses each phone. The "shared-access" business model concentrates demand and creates relatively high cash flow, even in poor villages, enabling operators to make regular loan payments and still turn a profit. Repayment rates to GB are 90-95 per cent (Cohen, 2001). From the perspective of GP, the VPP is a profit-making venture, despite the low wholesale charge, because of high airtime capacity utilisation and low operating costs (Torero *et al.*, 2002).

Recent research by the Telecommons Development Group (TDG) has shown that the VPP programme yields significant economic benefits. TDG estimates the full value of a single phone call for VPP users in terms of consumer surplus based on the estimated cost of travel between the village and Dhaka. The cost of the trip (including out-of-pocket expenses plus the opportunity cost of travel time evaluated at the average rural wage) ranges from 3.7 to 7.1 times the cost of the phone call, meaning real savings of between 51 and 91 Taka per call (see Table 1).

Economic Status	Hours required by alternative methods	Transport costs entailed in alternative methods	Opportunity cost of time required for alternative methods	Total costs of alternative methods (3 + 4)	Total cost of Village Pay Phone call	Consumer Surplus (5 - 6)
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
All poor	3.67	60.89	34.32	95.21	17.35	77.86
Extremely poor	3.08	54.97	26.41	81.38	20.08	61.30
Moderately poor	4.15	65.82	40.89	106.71	15.07	91.64
Non-poor	2.54	45.80	21.71	67.51	16.73	50.78
Entire sample	2.70	48.02	23.57	71.58	16.82	54.77

Table 1. Estimates of Consumer Surplus Provided by Grameen Village Pay Phones (in Taka, except column 2)

Note: 49 Taka = \$1 (at 1999 exchange rate)

Source: Bayes et al., 1999.

The same study compares prices received by farmers in VPP villages with those in control villages, finding that the former receive on average 70-75 per cent of the paddy price paid by the final consumers, discernibly more than the 65-70 per cent received by the latter. Moreover, a survey of perceptions of VPP users suggests the following benefits:

- lower cost of information;
- more stable supply of inputs (particularly fuels);
- quicker and more effective communication during disasters;
- reduced spoilage of perishable products;
- better access to health-care services.

Allowing for methodological deficiencies of such surveys (e.g. there was no attempt to isolate the "pure" Village Phone-effect), these findings point to considerable benefits to villagers from access to ICTs.

Aminuzzuman (2002) has conducted a more recent assessment, based on a sample of 350 VPP owner/operators and users. Most owner/operators found VPPs a profitable investment and ownership has substantially raised their average monthly incomes. The mostly female owner/operators have experienced some social and economic empowerment by virtue of the income the phones bring to their households. On the other hand, more often than not it is male household members who interface with users (in other words, the owner is not usually the operator), and only a small fraction of users (22 per cent) are women. So, the effect of VPPs on women's social and economic status has been rather modest. Still, those women who do operate and use VPPs are convinced of their positive impact on their economic and social status.

Box 1. Constraints on Grameen Rural Phone System

Despite being widely heralded as a success in bringing ICT access to rural areas, the Grameen rural phone system still grapples with a number of problems that might either limit its future expansion or be solved by means unlikely to be available to other rural ICT providers in developing countries.

Infrastructure

Grameen Telecom's original goal was to have a phone in every one of Bangladesh's 65 000 villages by 2000, but only 4 543 village phones were in service as of March 2001. The primary constraint has been a distorted telecommunications market controlled by a monopolistic government provider, BTTB. Because BTTB has been unwilling to increase its interconnect capacity, despite Grameen Phone's offer to pay for the upgrading, GP and other mobile companies have been unable to connect additional phones to the national switched network and instead have had to offer primarily mobile-to-mobile phone services. This infrastructure barrier has also limited expansion of the rural phone network, and points to the central importance of interconnectivity to fixed line networks being resolved through appropriate regulatory policy if initiatives relying on wireless communications to extend ICTs to rural areas (such as the Grameen Telecoms system) are to be viable.

A second constraint is GT's use of cellular technology for its VPPs, a choice that is neither efficient nor probably competitive over the long run (at least in rural areas). GSM — used throughout much of Europe and Asia — is far more expensive than fixed wireless local loop (WLL) systems used by GT's competitors, Sheba and BRTA. While GSM towers can provide service within 5 kilometres, WLL towers provide coverage within 50 kilometres. Moreover, WLL provides better bandwidth for data transmission at a lower cost. This raises the possibility that GT may be put at a severe "first-mover" disadvantage due to technology lock-in effects.

Policy

Bangladesh's telecom regulatory regime is both antiquated and anti-competitive. One consequence has been BTTB's ability to maintain control over the switched network without expanding its capacity, even in the face of high demand. Scarcity forces Bangladeshis to pay large inducements to BTTB officials in order to obtain phone service. BTTB's control of the network is likely to become an even more significant market disadvantage to GP and other mobile operators once BTTB launches its own GSM mobile network, although the telecoms regulatory authority is supposed to ensure a level playing field.

Enterprise

Grameen Telecom's village phone venture would not be feasible without access to the credit and bill collection services provided by Grameen Bank and the infrastructure and urban network provided by Grameen Phone. Village phones would be far less successful if GP were not able to discount by 50 per cent the rate charged to GT for a phone call, an underlying subsidy made possible by the more profitable urban part of the business — and a significant advantage unavailable to rural-only competitors BRTA and Sheba.

Source: Cohen, 2001

b) Telecentres

Another model of ICT provision in rural areas of developing countries — one which attempts to combine phone access with access to other ICTs (in particular the internet) — is that of the telecentre. A telecentre is a common point of access for multiple users (often an entire community), providing a range of ICT services including internet, fax, word processing, and even specialised information retrieval or applications (e.g. distance education). Telecentres have been established widely in the developing world, and vary in their service provision and means of funding. In Peru, the establishment of numerous Cabinas Públicas has led to a relatively high rate of internet use for the developing world (1 150 per 10 000 inhabitants, on a par with New Zealand) and a significant reduction in prices (Girardet, 2001).

The experience with telecentres has so far been a mixed one (see, for example, Ernberg, 1998). In numerous cases, usage, particularly of PCs, has been lower than expected or commercial viability has not been attained. Many telecentres have failed to serve their particular target groups. Of the over 70 community telecentres established since 1997 by the South African Universal Services Agency, only 40 per cent remain open today, with only 3 per cent making enough money to cover costs (Girardet, 2001). This is surprising given that several studies estimate a relatively high absolute amount, or percentage of disposable income, that poor people in developing countries are willing to pay for ICT access (Ernberg, 1998 puts the percentage at 3 per cent). Torero *et al.* (2002), for example, report on a contingent valuation survey of Bangladeshi and Peruvian rural households to estimate their willingness to pay for public phone access. They find a willingness to pay for both local and long-distance calls generally above current tariff rates, suggesting significant welfare benefits of telephone access.

Several types of telecentre can be distinguished. Some models have proved more successful than others. They run the gamut from small internet cafes started by individual entrepreneurs through networks of telecentres set up on a franchise model (often initially by an NGO, as with Peru's Cabinas Públicas) to telecentres affiliated with educational and training institutions to government-sponsored (-subsidised) centres established with or without financial support from foreign aid donors. The Andhra Pradesh model is one of telecentres underwritten by a private company contracted by the state government also to provide a fibre optic backbone linking villages, with the government providing an "anchor application" in the form of web-accessed government services (Tschang *et al.*, 2002).

Small, family-run internet access centres have been successful in many countries. Given the relatively low start-up costs, the competition is intense. They tend to be concentrated in urban areas, since it is only there that they can currently expect to be commercially viable. They generally offer little more than an internet access device and refreshments. They are not in the business of generating local content, as is the case for example with some of the NGO, government and donor-supported centres.

Few large telecentres are financially sustainable without ongoing external support. The more realistic projects, such as in Mozambique, have business plans that show that the centres will take at least four years to become self-sustaining — and only then with the capital written off. At best, these centres cover operating costs, while no major

funded telecentre has been able to set aside money for depreciation of equipment, let alone generate money to repay the initial capital. Many telecentres are offering useful services in their communities, though most are so young that evidence of their impact is mostly anecdotal (Benjamin, *n.d.*).

The establishment of a network of franchised telecentres under the auspices of a national telecoms and/or internet provider has some attractive features. It can offer economies of scale in equipment procurement and start-up support to franchise owners — e.g. in the form of a start-up package, an operating manual, recruitment and training guidelines, and standard payment vehicles (e.g. pre-paid cards). The latter can increase turnover, as for example when urban dwellers purchase pre-paid cards for rural relatives to facilitate two-way communications. This model can also ensure common quality-of-service standards.

In El Salvador, the franchise model of telecentre creation has been taken a step further. Infocentros, a non-profit organisation established to promote the information society, borrowed \$10 million interest-free from the government to build 100 telecentres within a two-year period. These for-profit telecentres were to be run as franchises-cumbusiness-incubators (Khelladi, 2001). For technical assistance, Infocentros turned to José Soriano, founder of the Peruvian Scientific Network, which pioneered the establishment of the public internet access centres mentioned above (cabinas públicas). In an initial phase, each telecentre is established and operated directly under Infocentros' management. Only when the centre achieves profitability is it sold to a franchisee. Eventually, 90 telecentres will be run as private franchises, while 10 will remain under Infocentros' control, acting as nodes, providing assistance and services to the franchisees, e.g. training, technical support, maintenance. Infocentros' ability to negotiate interconnection contracts with the telecoms operator on behalf of its nationwide network has substantially reduced costs. For instance, whereas a 128K line normally costs \$600 per month, Infocentros has been able to negotiate a price of \$400 per month for that bandwidth.

A key market for the telecentres is the large number of micro enterprises in El Salvador, whose owners often have little formal education but have need of accounting, banking, invoicing, and stock management support. The plan is to develop applications and services that meet these enterprises' needs. Free web-page hosting is also offered. Unfortunately, the analysis of Khelladi covers a period during which only 5 telecentres were established and, while the initial results are encouraging (with four of the five having reached their Infocentros-defined profit target), it is not known how the experiment has fared in the more recent past.

Telecentres are also sometimes established in schools and universities, where the physical infrastructure can be extended at modest cost to accommodate the telecentre and some of the ICT-relevant training can be integrated into the mainstream curriculum of the educational institution. At the same time, telecentres in universities have little direct impact on those with little formal education, and hence on the mass of the rural poor. In any case, almost all universities in developing countries are in urban areas. At a minimum, these telecentres could be connected with the rest of the community by, e.g. opening their doors to the public at the end of the school day.

c) The n-Logue Multi-Tiered Franchise Business Model³

Although it has one of the 10 largest telephone networks in the world and the third largest among developing countries, India currently has a teledensity of only 3.4 per 100 persons compared to China's 13.8 (ITU, 2002). The Indian startup n-Logue has created a for-profit business model to tap into what it believes to be a latent rural demand for connectivity. N-Logue was incubated by the Telecommunications and Computer Network (TeNet) Group of the Indian Institute of Technology in Madras (now Chennai) as part of the group's strategy of disseminating low-cost communications technologies to the rural poor (Prahalad and Hammond, n.d.).

Unlike the Grameen Village Pay Phone Model or the majority of telecentres, n-Logue takes the franchise concept above the level of the retailer to other levels of the network. N-Logue has fashioned a franchise-based business model that consists of three levels of interdependent networks (Howard *et al.*, 2001):

- At the foundation-level, n-Logue forges and facilitates relationships among a range of institutions — hardware and equipment providers, non-governmental organisations, content providers, and government — that support the businesses of franchise owners.
- At the intermediary level, n-Logue maintains regional networks of franchised Local Service Partners (LSP). These cooperate with n-Logue to establish Access Centres or nodes to which individual kiosk operators are connected, using Wireless Local Loop technology.
- Finally, at the highest level, local entrepreneurs are recruited by the LSPs (who are usually established businesspeople or district governments) to establish village-level kiosk franchises to provide Internet and telephone access to the local population. The LSPs provide training, business advisory services, and collect revenues from the kiosk operators, which are then passed on to n-Logue. Through the LSP, n-Logue offers low-priced "kiosk packages" consisting of a subscriber wall set (that connects the kiosk to the Access Centre), a computer, printer and backup battery. Local franchise owners are themselves responsible for developing additional product and service offerings (e.g. computer courses) as well as marketing strategies.

N-Logue employs a unique fixed wireless local loop (WLL) technology designed by TeNet for its village-level communications package. As with other WLL technologies, voice and data are transmitted over radio frequency rather than wires, in this case with a fixed unit emitting the signal. The subscriber wall set can communicate both voice and data simultaneously to an Access Centre that must be located within a 25 km line-ofsight distance. Because the central base station handles traffic from 200-1 000 subscribers, it works well in small, dispersed markets and does not require the large subscriber base that traditional landline or cellular systems do to be profitable (Prahalad and Hammond, n.d.).

^{3.} This section is based largely on Howard *et al.*, 2001; N-Logue Homepage: http://www.tenet.res.in/nlogue.html.

To date, use of the internet in many regions of India is inhibited, *inter alia*, by the dearth of internet content in any of the 15 national languages. N-Logue has responded to this challenge by setting up strategic alliances for local language software and content, commodity market price information, school education augmentation, agri-services, animal husbandry, money transfer, sales of financial products, and e-governance applications. In pilot projects, LSPs have taken an extremely active role in generating content. In some pilot projects, kiosks are connected only to the LSP intranet, but these have nevertheless managed to generate strong returns, suggesting the particular attractiveness of local content to villagers (Howard *et al.*, 2001).

While there is so far little empirical evidence on the comparative financial sustainability of the three access models discussed here, the n-Logue and Grameen Village Pay Phone models seem to have one considerable cost advantage over most telecentres: by not only providing shared access at the point of the end user, but also shared resources (including bandwidth) at the nodes further up in the "system", they are able to offer lower prices. Moreover, n-Logue's work at the foundation level is likely to contribute further to lowering end-user prices by enabling it to organise equipment bulk-buying for village kiosks as well as by lowering maintenance and repair costs through harmonisation of equipment and software throughout the kiosk network. Finally, n-Logue uses the headquarters staff expertise to choose high-quality hard- and software and certify its reliability to the kiosk owners. In this way, the risk of kiosk owners' buying low-quality, or even faulty, equipment and thus jeopardising their own ability to repay loans is minimised.

d) Other Options

Virtual Telephones: A further idea, possibly to be used in combination with the above access models, is that of so-called "virtual telephones" or village voice mail systems, as have been set up in Brazil. These can provide individuals with their own telephone number and access to a voice mailbox. In other words, the individual need not possess a telephone but can receive calls to a voice mailbox using his/her personal PIN. Extending this idea to text e-mail access, a South African company assigns e-mail addresses to every Post Office box address in the country, thereby providing electronic mail indirectly to around eight million South African households. Public Internet Terminals — similar to a bank's automated teller machines — will be located in every Post Office. Through an encoded card with a personal identification number, users will be able to send, retrieve and print e-mail messages.

Internet Kiosks: The Foundation of Occupational Development (FOOD) has helped to establish kiosks in India that are fitted with phone lines. Individuals can visit a kiosk and dictate an e-mail message over the phone to the closest telecentre against a fee payable to the kiosk owner (who in turn pays the telecentre). Some telecentres also provide a service in which incoming e-mail messages are dictated back over the phone to the kiosk owner, to be delivered to the appropriate customer. E-mail is therefore available to anyone with access to an internet kiosk, and small operators can enter the telecentre business with a minimum investment. When the scheme began, around 50 telephone

booth operators enrolled in it. The users, however, seemed to find it difficult to adapt to voicing an e-mail message on a telephone. Traffic volumes did not achieve expectations, and of the 50 original operators, few remain in the scheme, servicing only a handful of messages weekly (IDRC, 1999).

These two options are ones that mix and match technology solutions, e.g. wedding the internet and telephone, or e-mail and snail mail. Another example is the use of conventional AM radio to broadcast information downloaded from the worldwide web at a single access node.

The question of what works is answered to an extent by this review of organisational models. The VPP model would appear to be most effective in reducing the information asymmetry problem that plagues credit markets in developing countries, limiting entrepreneurial access to the investment capital to start up an internet kiosk or village pay phone service. Reliance on the Grameen Bank network also facilitates payment collection. Bulk purchase of airtime from a sister company holds down costs and charges to VPP operators. The n-Logue model and the Infocentros model have the advantage of offering economies of scale — in negotiating interconnection fees, in equipment and software purchase, in training and maintenance — that stand-alone village kiosks or telecentres cannot hope to realise. The franchise model also provides performance incentives to the owner/operator to the extent that s/he must risk some of her/his own capital or, in the case of VPP, her creditworthiness, hence future access to capital.

IV. TECHNOLOGY OPTIONS FOR RURAL ICT ACCESS

The preferred technology, or technology mix, for providing low-cost ICT access will vary with local conditions. In any case, even using the lowest-cost technology available, cost of access provision is certain to vary across locations depending on the degree of remoteness from the backbone network and central node, user density and clustering, and the type of service and traffic. The major transmission technologies are discussed, along with their strengths and weaknesses in specific contexts. Then, access devices are briefly discussed. The purpose here is simply to provide some guideposts that may assist decision makers in weighing the relative attractiveness of different technology solutions in specific circumstances, not to offer a "one-size-fits-all" solution, which does not exist. In this area, technologies are evolving rapidly, so what looks attractive technically and financially today may appear less so in a few years' time.

Transmission Technologies

There are several options for signal transmission. There are at least two segments of transmission that need to be considered separately: long-haul transmission from a central exchange, usually located in a city (serving roughly between 100 and 10 000 subscribers) — the "last 100 miles" — to an access distribution point node (serving roughly between 10 and 100 subscribers); and the local-loop transmission from that distribution point to the end-users — the "last mile". A major investment component in rural networks is for the former, and the most important alternatives for these "backbones" are:

- Terrestrial access, usually via copper cable; a faster, higher capacity but also more expensive option is fibre optic cable.
- Satellite access via VSAT ("Very Small Aperture Terminals", which can be used for one-way or interactive communications via satellite). This involves either leasing capacity on other countries' satellites or launching one's own. Banks in remote areas of Brazil are currently linked via VSATs; the National Stock Exchange in India links brokers via rooftop VSATs. Using satellite access then involves a choice between Geostationary Earth Orbit Satellites (GEOS) and Low Earth Orbit Satellites (LEOS). Whereas GEOS are strategically placed in the geostationary orbit, at an altitude of 22 300 miles above the equator, LEOS travel in a lower orbit, allowing for faster signal transmission but also requiring multiple satellites to cover the same "footprint" as a single GEOS.

 Microwave systems, which cut down on the cost of material compared to cable over longer distances, while limiting theft and maintenance problems. These are generally used as key components of wireless networks and require line-of-sight signal relay.

The relative costs and user advantages of these options are summarised in Annex Table I.1. However, they should not be seen as mutually exclusive, with long-haul network sometimes including "mix-and-match" approaches. For instance, Bhutan has chosen such an approach, combining international connections via satellite with microwave connections between cities and "last mile" connections that are often established via cable.

At the local level, these backbones can then be linked either to land-line-based local loops (which can be costly in low-density rural areas, though single-pair overhead cables have only a fraction of the installation cost of underground copper cables) or wireless systems - whether wireless local loop (WLL) or mobile cellular. Unlike the latter, the former do not generally allow roaming, though they may at a cost in terms of bandwidth or signal attenuation. The use of CDMA technology permits fixed-WLL systems to accommodate a much larger number of subscribers in a given bandwidth than can most other wireless transmission technologies. WLL systems connect subscribers to the network using radio signals rather than wire to complete the "last mile"; they are often implemented as network extenders by the main fixed-line service provider (still in many cases a state or quasi-state monopoly). WLL has some major advantages over "wired" end-user access, but also some significant drawbacks (summarised in Box 2). WLL is considered a highly promising technical option for low-cost telephone access in the rural areas of developing countries. WLL projects have been set up inter alia in Bolivia, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Indonesia, South Africa and Sri Lanka (ITU, 1998).

The advantages of WLL over landline "last mile" connections apply to mobile cellular as well. The cellular technology standard so far used in the main rural ICT access schemes, in particular the Grameen Village Phone system, is the Global System of Mobile Telecommunications, or GSM. Whereas three to five years ago, GSM was not very economical, its costs have fallen significantly in many countries as a widening installed base has given rise to economies of scale. Unlike WLL, mobile systems require no installation in premises. GSM can offer low-speed data applications like WAP, and GPRS is available at higher cost for higher-speed applications (it is a migration step to third-generation, or 3G, mobile phones). While more advanced "standards" such as UMTS (a full-fledged 3G technology) could provide greater bandwidth; they are very unlikely to replace GSM in developing countries in the near future since the cost of mobile phones would be prohibitive, transmission technologies would need to be adjusted or replaced, and micro- or picocells would be needed to provide greater bandwidth.

Box 2. Summary of Advantages and Remaining Challenges of Wireless Local Loop (WLL)

Advantages:

- Cost: In rural areas, the segment connecting the subscriber to the exchange often accounts for more than 50 per cent of initial investment. The cost advantage of WLL is based on three factors:
 - i) Quick deployment compared to copper wire, meaning that revenue streams begin sooner and investment is recouped more quickly.
 - ii) Cost structure: WLL typically tends to have a low ratio of fixed to incremental costs. Once base stations and the link to the telephone exchange have been installed, new subscribers can be added quickly and at relatively low cost.
 - iii) WLL tends to be less prone to failure than copper wire and is less likely to be stolen or damaged, lowering maintenance costs. Furthermore, it is much easier to locate the point of failure in WLL networks than in hard-wired ones.
- Flexibility: new customers can be added easily (i.e. without the need to lay new sets of cables). Moreover, WLL systems are redeployable, which is particularly useful in the case of fast-growing areas or areas where subscribers switch providers or cancel contracts frequently.
- Speed: In order to lay cable, permission has to be obtained from municipal authorities or landowners which delays implementation. WLL systems can be implemented more quickly and less obtrusively than copper wires. Furthermore, obstacles of various kinds (hills, forests, rivers) can increase the cost of installing copper wire.
- WLL systems can be used in the mobile mode: WLL users can theoretically roam freely with their handsets within the coverage area of their base station, which can range up to 50 kilometres.

Remaining challenges:

- No global standard: Most WLL systems are based on existing technologies.
- WLL systems tend to suffer attenuation where there is heavy rainfall or extensive foliage.
- The need to have frequency allocated for WLL imposes constraints on operators planning to use this technology. The price to be paid for this will raise costs.
- Concerning the possibility for "roaming", incumbent mobile cellular operators may complain, arguing that the WLL service provider infringes on the exclusivity of their existing licenses (as has happened in India and Poland). The problem is more serious where spectrum is allocated at low cost for a WLL system which then competes with mobile cellular operators who have paid in some cases high spectrum fees in competitive auctions.
- Some WLL technologies have relatively low bandwidth, restricting ability for broadband applications and some of the most advanced services (one has to bear in mind, however, that provision of these most advanced technical solutions is probably not required for low-cost rural telecommunications).

Source: ITU, 1998.

To reiterate, the choice of technology for rural access provision needs to be made taking into account the specific circumstances of the project in question, with the main criteria including the type of service required, the likely amount of traffic, user density, and the average distance of users from the central node. While generally a cable backbone-WLL combination seems attractive, this might be less appropriate in larger countries with considerable distances (where establishing the cable backbone would hence incur high costs). Assuming government covers the fixed costs, particularly remote locations might call for a VSAT-WLL combination. The same holds for locations that are not necessarily remote but where the geographic givens (e.g. mountainous or archipelagic terrain) make the establishment of cable or microwave connections difficult. Finally, the wireless option can be attractive for the local loop in developing countries, given the ease of expansion of the network. For medium-density rural areas, mobile cellular systems are likely to be cost-competitive, since the existing GSM network infrastructure can be expanded relatively easily. The same could be said for fixed-WLL, viz. where extension of the landline network via WLL should be possible at relatively low cost in medium-density rural areas. Still, most poor people in rural areas of the developing world cannot afford to become individual subscribers to telephone services, whatever the technology — assuming access is available — and will continue to rely on shared access models like those described in the previous section. For these, especially in low density rural areas, it may well be that fixed-WLL is an attractive solution, depending on remoteness. While the VPP programme demonstrates that GSM can be made profitable in low-income areas, the rural areas served until now could be characterised as medium- to high-density ones not far removed from urban centres, so extension of an existing GSM network has been possible.

Relying on the existing cable TV infrastructure may be an option where this is already extensive, as in India. This could significantly lower the up-front costs of establishing connectivity. It is possible to use cable TV connections to provide internet as well as phone access, a service that is currently already offered in several OECD countries. Cable TV provides considerably higher data transfer speed than standard telephone lines. Presently, roughly 30 million Indian households (about 15 per cent) have cable TV access, a much higher penetration rate than for telephones. According to Digitalpartners.org, a non-profit organisation aiming at developing market-based technology solutions for the poor, this expansion can be attributed to very low monthly subscription fees of Rs. 60-150 (\$1.28-3.20), an active second-hand market for low-cost televisions, and an explosive growth in the number of small-scale entrepreneurs providing cable service, whose costs are far lower than those of the corporate sector. Indeed, in India, cable services are among the cheapest in the world, cheaper than telephone service. To provide internet access via cable TV, however, requires the operate to make a substantial investment (in the range of \$45,000 to \$100,000 in India) in a cable modem terminator system (CMTS), which the small entrepreneurs cannot easily afford, while the cable modem installed at customer premises ranges in price from \$275 to \$330 and monthly charges for households are around \$20 - far beyond the means of a poor household.

Besides combining cable TV and internet access, it is also possible to deliver telephony over the internet, which could eventually do away with the need for "phone only" connections in all locations where the internet is available. Where the equipment for internet access is not available, however, its installation cost still poses a barrier, especially to low-income households. This alternative is particularly attractive for long-distance phone calls, as the cost of an "internet phone call" is determined by the time spent connected to the local internet service independently of the distance between the two communicating parties. Again, this assumes that the user can establish access an internet service provider via a local phone call, which is not always the case in rural areas of the developing world. (The reasons for the dramatically lower cost of internet telephony include greater economies of scale through the shared and decentralised administration of the global internet infrastructure, as well as internet telephony's better ability to maximise the use of available bandwidth.)

Phone access alone remains considerably cheaper than access to the internet, so that for poor households internet phone access will probably not be an attractive option in the near term. Central to the decision of whether to establish phone access alone or internet-plus-phone access is a calculation of the net costs after the higher up-front costs of establishing internet connectivity and the monthly charges for maintaining it are compared to the lower recurring costs of the phone calls. It should, however, be borne in mind that the internet may make phone calls cheaper even where neither the calling nor the receiving party has access to the internet — simply through a network of gateways between the internet and the telecoms network, with the internet thus functioning as a low-cost connection between two, possibly remote, high-cost local telephone networks.

End User Equipment Choices for Internet Access

A key question concerning internet access in rural areas is what sort of user interface offers the best technical solution at an affordable price. Are personal computers (PCs) or some other type of device preferred? Here again, different circumstances may dictate different choices. The case for PCs is that they can simultaneously be used for a variety of other "non-communication" purposes (word processing, spreadsheets, etc.). The case against them rests on i) their cost and ii) their power and maintenance requirements relative to alternatives. The installation of multimedia user terminals (in a price range of \$300-500 per terminal) can be an effective way of providing access to internet and multimedia services. E-mail, voice and video communications are becoming available through such non-traditional devices. Another such device is the personal digital assistant (PDA), whose technology is being merged inexorably with that of the mobile phone. These new devices, while still very expensive compared to a simple mobile phone, are cheaper than most PCs - and certainly than the laptop variety. Moreover, there is no reason not to expect prices to experience the same steep declines as with earlier generations of mobile telephone and computer technology. The main constraint in using such devices in rural areas of the developing world is likely to be bandwidth limitations of mobile telecoms networks. The same constraint makes accessing the internet via a PC and a dial-up modem connection extremely slow and potentially costly for anything more than simple applications like e-mail.

E-mail-only appliances allow users to send and receive e-mail (albeit normally without attachments). In order to have e-mail access via a standard PC, the user requires a hard disk drive; needs to install e-mail software; has to configure connectivity options such as the dial-up access number; must boot up the hard drive every time he wants to establish access; needs to connect to a phone line (for the case of dial-up access, which is still widespread in developing countries) and disconnect once the e-mail has been sent. E-mail-only appliances are frequently much less complicated. They often dial up the e-mail provider at the touch of a button and automatically disconnect once an e-mail has been downloaded. Hence, e-mail-only appliances could be used in rural areas where low cost and minimal bandwidth usage are paramount concerns.

The Indian "simputer" is somewhere between a PDA and a PC, though closer to the former than the latter. Like a Palm Pilot[®], the Simputer[®] includes a touch screen interface that does away with input devices like a mouse or keyboard. It uses a standardised interface language called IML (Information Markup Language). Thanks to these and an icon-driven interface, a high level of computer literacy is not essential for using the device. At a minimum, all it takes is the ability to point and touch an icon on screen with a stylus. The simputer is also designed to withstand the harsh environmental conditions found in rural areas of the developing world. Initial target markets are government offices and private companies. It is still too early to know how it will fare in the marketplace, especially in the face of competition from low-cost PDAs.

An additional advantage of such simple solutions is that they might make it easier for rural inhabitants to learn how to use the internet (if only limited features) by doing away with the need for PC management skills. Another expected advantage would be lower lifetime maintenance costs and slightly lower power requirements per unit (see Annex II for details of energy options to power rural ICT). This should be weighed against the fact that in many locations — especially in many telecentres — there is also demand for "traditional" use of PCs, e.g. for word processing or work with spreadsheets. In this case, PCs are likely to be the preferred option. Generally, however, there is nothing to be said against mixing e-mail-only appliances with PCs. The installation of several e-mail appliances for less than the cost of an additional PC can help meet the demand for email access while freeing up the limited number of PCs for "PC-only" tasks.

V. ADDRESSING DEMAND- AND SUPPLY-SIDE CONSTRAINTS TO WIDER ICT DIFFUSION

The hallmark of successful ICT provision in low-income communities is that the venture *i*) provides services that users genuinely need and demand at a price they can afford, and *ii*) has a pricing model that ensures long-term financial sustainability. Certain conditions — like the broader telecoms and ISP regulatory environment, unique geography, etc. — may be outside the control of individual ICT ventures (though collectively such ventures may be effective in lobbying for a more favourable environment).

A Demand-Driven Approach

Making the content accessible. Projects need to use innovative models to extend service provision in a form that is widely accessible. This may involve mix-and-match technological approaches, for instance using AM radio to broadcast information downloaded from the internet to the rural population, some of whom may be illiterate but most of whom own a radio (see Box 3). It also means the use of local languages when providing information over the internet.

Box 3. Kothmale Community Radio, Sri Lanka

The Kothmale Community Radio (KCR) in Sri Lanka combines community radio and internet access. Generally, community radio is a good starting point for the dissemination of ICTs since it is inexpensive, easy to operate, and reaches all segments of local communities through local languages to offer information, education and entertainment, as well as being a platform for debate and cultural expression. KCR was set up as a mini-ISP with leased line connection to the internet and a number of computers: broadcasters use the internet in research/production, while local people come to the KCR premises and other access points to use the internet.

Furthermore, on a "radio browsing" programme, presenters browse the Web on behalf of listeners (who provide requests/input through phone or post). Relevant "experts" from the community (lawyers, doctors, etc.) then interpret the information for listeners. The radio station also adds value to the information by putting it into local context, also through development of a rural database that packages information of the most frequently-needed kind for off-line use.

Source: www.kothmale.net

Developing useful local content. Telecentres can be made significantly more useful if they provide relevant local network content. The problem with content provision is that it is much more difficult to recover costs of content development than of access provision. Most information available on the world-wide web is still provided for free, and many users have come to expect free content. Even assuming a willingness to pay, there is no readily available vehicle for the "micropayments" that would be needed to access small information bits or parcels. Such vehicles will undoubtedly be developed, but they are not yet readily available. Thus, the question arises of who is going to develop local content that cannot be sold. Presumably only NGOs and/or governments would undertake such a service.

One example of local content creation is provided by four "Infoshops" in Pondicherry, India, a rural area of around 20 000 inhabitants (Shore, 1999). After information requirements had been identified during a trial period, volunteers from the village created a local database comprising:

- Government programmes for low-income rural families;
- Cost and availability of farming inputs such as seeds and fertilisers, and grain prices in different local markets;
- A directory of insurance plans for crops and families;
- Pest management plans for rice and sugar cane;
- A directory of local hospitals, medical practitioners and their specialities;
- A directory of local veterinarians, cattle and animal husbandry programmes.

Naturally, creating such databases and keeping them up-to-date are two different things, and many projects come to grief for lack of commitment to ongoing maintenance. Ultimately, once a critical mass of local users has been achieved, most local content provision should be run as a commercial enterprise, just like internet service provision. The initial target market for such commercially-oriented content provision is likely to be those users willing and able to pay a premium for tailor-made information (to save on their own information search costs), brokering services, etc. Advertisers may also be willing to pay for access to target online communities.

Linking ICT projects with microfinance programmes. The establishment of telecentres can be linked to microcredit programmes as well as the provision of other business incubator services. This makes sense, however, only if there are potential synergies between the two kinds of institutions. In the case of Grameen Telecoms, its sister Grameen Bank already possesses the relevant microcredit expertise. Microfinance can thus be extended easily to support ICT-using business ventures (Box 3 provides an example of a reverse synergy, i.e. using ICT to support microfinance operations.). Not all telecentre experiments are likely to have the same access to microcredit expertise. On the other hand, they should have the potential to make available small-business software applications to microenterprises, either providing software training to enterprise owners or performing outsourcing of basic business processes like accounting and bookkeeping on a fee-for-service basis.

Box 4. PlaNet Finance and PRIDE Africa: Using the Internet to Support Microfinance Projects

PlaNet Finance (www.planetfinance.org) offers technical support to microfinance organisations through a variety of services. PlaNet Ring is a microfinance webring giving access to the sites of organisations concerned with microfinance. PlaNet Systems offers support for the institutions that are members of the network in implementing and using IT. PlaNet University is the online training centre for microfinance and the use of information and communication technologies therein. PlaNet Rating offers appraisal and rating services to financial institutions, to microfinance institutions and to donors.

A related, grass-roots example is that of PRIDE Africa, a Nairobi-based organisation that extends micro-credit to small entrepreneurs in East Africa. Since 1996, the organisation has used the Internet to communicate cost-effectively, send and receive valuable information, and to market its services via its own web site. Pride Africa's mission is to create a sustainable financial and information services network for small-scale entrepreneurs to increase incomes and employment and to stimulate business growth in Africa. When the organisation decided to subscribe to an internet service, it was looking for fast and easy access to information available on the internet; it also wanted to bypass the high costs of communicating by telephone and the inefficiency and unreliability of sending information through the postal service

Once the decision was made to establish an internet account, Pride Africa identified a local ISP, Africa Online, who offered the services it was seeking. Since the organisation had previously acquired computers, its only additional investment was a modem. The ISP provided basic training to Pride Africa staff. As the staff gained experience in using e-mail, they began to explore other Internet features including web site development. In February 1997, Pride Africa launched its own web page, which is hosted through its ISP. The Pride Africa web page has emerged as a strong marketing tool for its products (<u>http://www.usaid.gov/regions/afr/leland/micro.htm</u>).

Participatory approaches. Local communities need to be involved in the design of universal access programmes by participating in decisions about particular information access outlets. Indeed, most studies find that the most effective way of ensuring the economic success of ICTs in rural areas is to encourage local participation and create social institutions in support of new technologies (Kenny, 2001). This means in particular helping communities define their needs in terms of *i*) communication (who wants to communicate with whom, why, and how); *ii*) information (what information is needed, by whom, when, where, for what purpose, etc.); and *iii*) education and training (who needs what, when, where, and how would they prefer to have it delivered to them) (Paisley *et al.*, 1999).

Training. Clearly, one of the keys to successful network development lies in training people to use as well as maintain the system. According to Roman and Colle (2002), training for telecentre staff has so far concentrated too heavily on how to operate computer hardware and software. Roman and Colle argue that training needs in the telecentre context ought to be understood more broadly to include reaching out to the community and "strategically building a clientele that can make a telecentre demand-driven". One example of an ICT access project that contains a substantial training component is the MS Swaminathan Research Foundation (MSSRF). Here, work in village telecentres includes the training of villagers, especially young people and women, in how to operate the telecentres and training in the production of locally relevant materials from generic information.

Financing Rural ICT Infrastructure

Clearly, ventures providing rural ICT access should aim to become commercially sustainable over the medium term. Yet, where commercial funding is not adequate initially, policymakers may consider that the developmental benefits of a functioning national network of telecentres warrant an infrastructure subsidy. At the same time, it is clear that a publicly provided or highly subsidised telecommunications network can stifle private sector initiative and that, if the public sector decides to provide rural telecommunications services, it needs to commit the relevant funds on a continuing basis (Bastistas-Buch *et al.*, 2001).

The classic public policy tool to finance ICT access in underserved areas is to encourage private, competing network operators, with incentives and/or obligations to extend their networks and services on an affordable basis to geographic areas and socio-demographic groups deemed to be marginally profitable or unprofitable (see Box 5 for the South African case). Often governments have used "service requirements" as a bid evaluation criterion and written these into operating licenses. These may go beyond teledensity or rollout target for public and private lines, to include conditions on the quality and speed of service. In Mexico, Telmex's 1990 licence required it to install at least one telephone with long-distance service in all towns with a population greater than 500 prior to the end of 1994 (ITU, 1998). PT Telkom Wartels in Indonesia is a similar case. This approach effectively amounts to cross-subsidisation of the least viable parts of a network by the profitable ones (a practice which, incidentally, is widely applied in the OECD countries). The "service requirements" approach also necessitates enforcement procedures on the attainment of targets and sanctions for failure to do so. At the same time, public policy makers need to bear commercial feasibility needs in mind when designing service requirements (this dictates in particular an analysis of the target users' ability to pay). Requirements that are overly ambitious can threaten the financial performance of the operators and thus, ultimately, the goal of extending network coverage. Finally, provisions such as free choice of technology (subject to certain performance standards) may make service requirements less onerous for firms.

As an alternative to service requirements being imposed on operators, governments may use taxes on telecommunication revenues to fund service extension to unserved areas. In Peru, a universal service fund along with a least-subsidy auction is being used to supply rural telephone services. The fund, established in 1994, is financed by a 1 per cent tax on the gross annual billings of all telecommunications providers (including cable television providers). Since its inception, the tax has generated an average of \$450,000 per month. The fund administrator can identify and target rural areas considered to be of preferential social interest. Although the initial focus of these types of universal access funds was to support the provision of public telephones, some countries are using this approach to support the establishment of public internet access points, notably through telecentres. This has been the approach followed in South Africa, where the Universal Service Agency has used the funds to franchise telecentres around the country. Peru has recently started using a similar mechanism to support the public provision of telecentres and internet terminals in poor city neighbourhoods. One should bear in mind, however, that funds only work in countries with sufficient telecom revenues and are unlikely to be effective in smaller developing countries.

In the case of service requirements incorporated in competitive contract bid conditions, there is an implicit government subsidy insofar as the regulatory environment is normally such as to make possible above-normal profits in one segment of the market to cross-subsidise services in another. As for telecommunications funds, their raison d'être is to provide a public subsidy for extending access to underserved communities. Through a system of competitive bidding, the funds can be awarded to the operator with the lowest required subsidy or the highest service roll-out commitment, or a combination of both. In Chile, for example, just over \$2 million in public funds leveraged \$40 million in private investment to install telephones in 1 000 localities, at about 10 per cent of the costs of direct public provision (Wellenius, 1997b). In the end, one-third of the unwired rural population acquired telephone access through this means. Interestingly, the bidding process resulted in 16 project contracts being awarded on the basis of zero subsidy - in other words, a substantial number of projects were commercially viable in terms of existing demand and willingness to pay but only found private sector investment after the public sector had taken initial steps in project evaluation and viability calculation (ITU, 1998).

Box 5. Cellular Licenses and Universal Service

South Africa provides an interesting case of how cellular licensees have been required to satisfy both the geographic and affordability components of universal service. The 1993 invitation to tender issued by the South African government advised applicants for its two GSM licenses that fulfilment of community service obligations would be a key criterion in the selection process, given in particular the imbalance between black and white communities in ICT access. Both licensees, Vodacom and Mobile Telephone Networks, had community service obligations incorporated in their license terms

Vodacom devised a system by which it provides a franchisee with the necessary equipment in return for a monthly rental, while the franchisee commits to provide the public with cellular phone and voice mail service in accordance with standards contained in the franchise contract. The leased equipment consists of a phone shop (a mobile container that can be relocated when necessary); up to ten cubicles equipped with phones (including transceivers) and metering units housed in the container; and a central call charge management system for use of the centre operator. The franchisee purchases telephone services from Vodacom and resells them to the public with a margin of about 33 per cent.

Source: Schwartz, 1996.

VI. PUBLIC POLICY FOR RURAL ICT ACCESS

There are a number of steps that developing country policy makers can take to improve rural telephony and internet access.

A range of studies suggest that there can be dramatic increases in access to telephone and internet services through a telecommunications-sector reform programme. Such a programme, to be successful, ought to rest on four pillars: privatisation and liberalisation; legal and regulatory mechanisms to promote competition; complementary public investments; support for business planning.

a) Privatisation and competition. Table 2 indicates the benefits from privatisation and liberalisation of the telecoms market in Latin America between 1984 and 1994, measured by annual percentage growth in main telephone lines. There is a clear pattern of privatised open markets performing best, followed by privatised monopolies, with state monopolies coming last. This also feeds through in differential internet access costs, given that in many developing countries much of the cost of internet access is accounted for by the cost of basic phone access. A recent study of African ISPs suggests that countries with a highly liberalised telecommunications network have costs of internet access eight times lower than those with a completely closed market. Countries with more open telecommunications sectors also have more internet hosts, lower monthly internet charges, a greater number of providers, and higher rates of internet penetration (Kenny, 2001). Wallsten (2002) finds that regulations pertaining specifically to the ISP market also affect significantly internet user density and access costs.

	1984-89	1989-94
Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru, Uruguay	7.0*	7.8*
Argentina, Mexico, Venezuela	6.7*	11.3**
Chile	6.6*	20.5***

Table 2.	Faster	Growth	in Open,	Privatised	Markets
/ •					•• \

(Annual Percentage Growth in Main Telephone Lines)

Privatised Open Markets. Source: Wellenius, 1997b.

Privatised Monopolies.

**

b) Legal and regulatory mechanisms to promote competition. Privatisation alone is not likely to ensure access for the rural poor. Even when telecommunications markets have been privatised and liberalised, there remains a need for legal and regulatory mechanisms to promote competition, especially fair interconnection charges and revenue-sharing arrangements between telecommunications operators (especially between former monopolists and new entrants to the market). The overall objective is to move towards cost-oriented tariffs, where costs are forced down through competition, with the exception of carefully designed subsidies to ensure basic access for the poor. One risk is that, in the interests of maximising its revenue take from the sale of the state share in the telecoms monopoly, the government may agree to restrict competition in the privatised market for an extended period. This can prolong high tariffs, undermining one of the principal objectives of privatisation. Another problem is that private operators (e.g. of mobile networks) need to be able to interconnect to the fixed-line network to increase system coverage (notably for long-distance calls), and in the absence of strong regulation the incumbent fixed-line monopolist can charge exorbitant interconnection fees, often to protect its own mobile phone service. Finally, private ISPs can face similarly steep costs for leased lines from a telephone monopolist eager to protect its own captive ISP. Thus, effective liberalisation includes the imperative of establishing a strong and truly independent regulatory agency capable of enforcing rules aimed at establishing a level playing field.

c) Complementary public investments. The advent of the internet in developing countries often depends vitally on complementary investments in other infrastructure, namely electricity, but also copper or fibre optic cables. In some parts of the developing world, there is a need to build regional backbones. For instance, setting up regional telecommunication backbones in each of Africa's sub-regions may help local companies to lower tariffs on both phone lines and internet access. Where such backbones traverse multiple countries, each with relatively low telephone density and low per capita incomes, financing constraints become binding. The private sector is unlikely to take a keen interest, but neither is the public sector in individual countries. International financial institutions can play a vital role in executing such regional infrastructure projects. In some cases, satellite may be the most economical means of ensuring broad network coverage.

d) *Support for business planning.* Finally, the government regulator may wish to provide support for business planning wherever this is thought to improve the prospects of the setting-up of rural internet access. Telecommunications investors, financial institutions that provide telecom loans, and urban telecom operators are generally reluctant to involve themselves in rural operations because they see telecom ventures in rural areas, especially those in developing countries and emerging markets, as high-risk, low-return propositions. Thus, the provision of Rapid Market Appraisals (RMAs, see Box 6) may help to entice prospective operators into the market, while helping in the planning for optimised financial performance and long-term commercial viability. For example, in the case of Grameen Telecom, it was the feasibility studies initiated by Gonophone Bangladesh Ltd. and Grameen Bank that attracted external investment from a qualified foreign operator.

Box 6. Toolbox for Rural Telecoms Planning

1) The goal of Rapid Market Appraisal (RMA) is to provide detailed assessment of line deployment requirements on a community-by-community basis. It employs two main techniques: *i*) conduct a willingness/ability-to-pay survey within a suitable sampling framework; *ii*) use a "basket" of measurable socio-economic indicators to determine the relative economic returns to communities of telecoms service. Good RMAs should also provide detailed assessment of revenue per line (based on willingness to pay and traffic scenarios).

2) "Community Mapping" is used to determine optimal allocation of access points within the community, combining the dual objectives of maximum revenue and maximum community access. The technique rests on participatory mapping exercises conducted with rural community members at key market points and meeting places.

3) "Stakeholder Communication Mapping" can help to determine existing communication patterns and mechanisms used by key potential users of rural telecom systems and desired improvements. It involves the identification and interview of key rural stakeholders (e.g. financial entities, suppliers of household products, agricultural input suppliers, commodity traders, major commercial enterprises, government agencies, schools, etc.).

4) Financial Modelling can be employed to determine the business case for rural telecoms investment. For this purpose, a combined analysis of RMA, stakeholder communication mapping, and community mapping can produce return on investment (ROI) scenarios for different levels of infrastructure investment.

5) "Multi-Stakeholder-Planning" can help to engage key stakeholders in supporting financially sustainable rural telecoms services. To this end, key stakeholders identified in Communication Mapping partake in structured workshops designed to solicit their input, support and interventions for value-added services that will enhance rural telecom revenues (e.g. health information services, or agricultural information services).

Source: Richardson, 2001.

VII. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Telecommunications access is necessary if not sufficient to permit the rural poor in developing countries to extend the market for their goods and to ensure that they are as well-supplied as other market participants with price and other vital information. In most cases, shared access will be the dominant model for some time. Estimates of the willingness to pay of rural households for telecommunications services suggest that a rural telecoms service can in many instances be commercially viable. As the VPP experiment in Bangladesh shows, there is a pent-up demand for telephone service among small-scale entrepreneurs and more prosperous farmers that provide a reasonably large customer base, one that could justify network extension to underserved areas, including a franchise network of shared-access providers.

In poor, remote communities with very few potential individual subscribers, establishing network access is more difficult without an initial subsidy. Development NGOs working in such communities can often act as a catalyst to the introduction of information technology, but business models need to be introduced that make such ventures self-sustaining. Perhaps the most important contribution government can make is through establishing a conducive regulatory environment for telecoms and ISP competition, so that private providers do not pay crippling charges for network interconnection and leased lines. The Chilean example suggests innovative ways of targeting "universal service" subsidies to best effect, by getting private bidders to reveal their true willingness to pay for licenses to service specific underserved areas and communities.

Provision of ICT access in rural areas is likely to prove most beneficial where complementary infrastructure and services are also made available. Rural electricity and roads are the most obvious infrastructural complements. In terms of services, access to credit, micro or otherwise, is one of the most valuable accompaniments. Also, small entrepreneurs may benefit from IT-enabled business support services — e.g. outsourced accounting and bookkeeping, web-page design and management, etc. — as well as training in small business software applications. NGOs and local government agencies may also perform a useful public service in initial local content development, increasing the utility of ICT access to the point where a critical mass of users attracts private entrepreneurs into web-based (or web-enabled) services.

ANNEX I

Table I.1. Transmission Options for Connecting Rural Areas: Key Cost Elements and Technical Features

	Cable			Microwave		
	Copper	Fibre Optic	Leasing Capacity	Launching Sat (GEOS)	tellites (LEOS)	
Cost	 Lower than fibre optic cable Lower than satellite in less remote locations 	 Higher than copper cable Lower than satellite in less remote locations 	 Higher than terrestrial access in densely populated locations, lower for remote/ inaccessible areas: hilly terrain, archipelagos. So far, invariably too high to make system commercially viable 	 Higher than terrestrial access in densely populated locations, lower for remote / inaccessible areas: hilly terrain, archipelagos. Cost of increasing bandwidth is high (may require launching of new satellites). Ongoing cost of space segment is high and difficult to determine in general terms. Cost of launching a satellite into geostationary orbit up to 20 times higher than launching a LEOS. Unlike LEOS, GEOS are continuously visible from any point within potential service area (ca. 40 per cent of Earth's surface). Hence fixed ground antennae need not be continually reoriented to track the satellite, thus avoiding 	Higher than terrestrial access in densely populated locations, lower for remote / inaccessible areas: hilly terrains, archipelagos. Cost of increasing bandwidth is high (may require launching of new satellites) Ongoing cost of space segment is high and difficult to determine in general terms. LEOS more expensive than GEOS, but cheaper to launch. LEOS receive antennae are comparatively cheap. Unlike GEOS, LEOS are not continuously visible from any point within the potential service area. Hence, more satellites needed to guarantee that at least one satellite is always above a specific service area. LEOS require more fuel in order to maintain altitude due to the stronger pull of the Earth's gravity.	Lower than cable over longer distances; higher than satellite for the most remote distances.

Technical Advantages & Drawbacks	Can carry medium volume of data	 Can carry comparatively high volume of data. Speedier access than through copper cables. 	 Can carry comparatively low volume of data. Flexibility: once installed, can support a variety of applications (internet, data, video, audio, voice and fax). Adding new applications or even sites is easy. Reliability: reduced risk of poor-quality phone lines or outages, which are widespread in developing countries. Able to broadcast applications to hundreds of sites in one transmission. This includes audio / video broadcast for training, distance learning, information databases and software updates. 	 Flexibility: once installed, can support a variety of applications (internet, data, video, audio, voice and fax). Adding new applications or even sites is easy. Reliability: reduced risk of poor-quality phone lines or outages, which are widespread in developing countries. High orbit: hence delay in propagation of signals (for telephone conversations, this may cause problems through delays in voice transmission). 	 Flexibility: once installed, can support a variety of applications (internet, data, video, audio, voice and fax). Adding new applications or even sites is easy. Reliability: reduced risk of poor-quality phone lines or outages, which are widespread in developing countries. No transmission delays. 	 Reduced danger of theft and maintenance problems compared to cable. The longer the distance, the greater the danger of outages due to microwave repeater failure. This requires considerable maintenance.
---	---------------------------------------	---	---	---	--	--

Table I.1. Transmission Options for Connecting Rural Areas: Key Cost Elements and Technical Features (continued)

Sources: Schwartz, 1996; Intelecon, 2000.

ANNEX II

Energy Solutions for Rural ICT Access

An adequate and reliable energy supply is a prerequisite for the deployment of any modern telecommunications or other ICT system. This remains a fundamental problem with ICT access in the rural areas of developing countries, where there are currently 2 billion people without electricity. This is mostly due to the expense associated with extending the electricity grid into rural areas and the difficulty of recovering these costs due to the low purchasing power of local populations. Policy measures such as energy market liberalisation will not suffice on their own to remedy this problem [see World Bank report "Meeting the Challenge: Rural Energy and Development for 2 Billion People" (Word Bank, N.D.)]. Hence, one needs to investigate other ways to power telecentres and other institutions aiming to provide ICT access to remote localities.

Communities beyond the reach of the electricity grid in developing countries usually employ rudimentary electricity generation and distribution systems ("mini-grids") on the basis of diesel or gasoline fuelled generator sets or small solar energy systems, if they can afford to do so. A complete power system may include, in addition to a generator, a battery charge controller; a bank of batteries; an inverter; safety disconnects; a fuse; a grounding circuit; supporting structures; and wiring. Taken together, these balance-of-system (BOS) components may cost more than the generator. Electricity needed to power remote telecommunication infrastructure sites can range from less than 100 watts to tens of kilowatts, with power requirements depending on a host of factors including type of equipment used and local conditions (e.g. temperature). The power requirements of most end-user terminals are much lower. Cellular handsets and cordless telephones usually consume less than five watts of power, and can thus run on dry cell or lithium ion-type batteries. A team of Silicon Valley entrepreneurs has designed a low-power portable PC (based on 486 chip architecture) for use in rural Laos that can run on 12 watts as opposed to the typical PC's 90 watts. The computer's battery can be recharged using a generator that can in turn be charged using bicycle pedal power. The computer is designed to run in both the monsoon and the dry season, and it has a wireless card that permits it to connect to the internet via a radio signal transmitted 25 miles to the nearest large village with phone lines (see article by Kevin Fagan in San Francisco Chronicle, 17 January 2003).

Each of the energy-provision options has its own advantages and drawbacks. The following table summarises these:

	Nonrenewable Power Technologies		Hybrid Power Systems		
	Fuel-powered generator sets	Photovoltaics (PV, Solar Power)	Wind Energy	Micro-Hydropower Systems	(usually photovoltaics or wind generation with fuel- powered generator)
Costs	 For small systems, power requirements are far below the scale at which generator sets can be cost-effective. Cost of running fuel- powered generator sets is directly related to hours of operation. Hence the longer the operating hours, the more costly (in comparative terms) this option becomes compared to Photovoltaics or Wind Energy. 	 Small pre- assembled photovoltaics-based power systems providing 100 to 200 watt-hours per day (such as those used by Grameen Cybernet) are available for less than \$1 000. 	May be higher than other alternative energy sources due to restrictions on turbines imposed by authorities (usually on hub height, as visibility tends to be the main issue).	 Cheaper to deploy than either solar or wind systems. Long lifespan, hence reducing cost of running power-generation systems on this basis. 	Suitable for large power requirements in remote areas, where the size and costs of the renewable energy system and the battery bank can be significantly reduced if one incorporates modest use of an engine-driven generator.
Technical Advantages & Drawbacks	Ensuring regular delivery of fuel to rural areas can be difficult in remote or inaccessible areas.	 Only some places suited for PV, and even then power production depends on weather conditions. Continuous energy provision requires storage devices (e.g. conventional lead accumulators). Provide electricity without creating pollution at the point of energy production. 	 Only some places suited for wind energy production, and even then power production depends on weather conditions. May create noise pollution at the point of energy production. 	 Only some places suited for hydro- energy production. Since most micro- hydro installations are of the "run-of- river"-type (i.e. they work without a reservoir stored behind a dam), they produce electricity only when water from river flow is available and cease to generate power when the river dries up. Environmental impact usually small. Simple to maintain; require only semi- skilled labour. Flexibility in adapting to quick load variations. 	

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- AMINUZAMMAN, S.M. (2002), "Cellular Phones in Rural Bangladesh: A Study of the Village Pay Phone of Grameen Bank", *in* GOLDSTEIN AND O'CONNOR (eds.) (2002), pp. 161-178.
- BASTISTAS-BUCH, R., G. MONTERO and F.J. PROENZACO (2001), "Telecentres for Socioeconomic and Rural Development in Latin America and the Caribbean", Inter-American Development Bank, Washington, D.C.
- BAYES, A., J. VON BRAUN, AND R. AKHTER (1999), "Village Pay Phones and Poverty Reduction: Insights from a Grameen Bank Initiative in Bangladesh", Information and Communication Technologies and Economic Development, ZEF Discussion Papers on Development Policy No. 8, Centre for Development Research, Bonn.
- BENJAMIN, P. (N.D.), "African Experience with Telecentres", e-OTI, Hopewell, NJ.
- BENJAMIN, P. and M. DAHMS (2000), "Socialise the Modem of Production: The Role of Telecentres in Development", Aalborg.
- CANNING, D. and P. PEDRONI (1999), "Infrastructure and Long Run Economic Growth", July, Processed, available at: http://www.arts.cornell.edu/econ/cae/infrastructure-7-99.pdf.
- CHUNG, F. (2001), "How ICTs Can Help to Achieve Education for All". Presentation given at the OECD/UN/UNDP/World Bank Global Forum "Exploiting the Digital Opportunities for Poverty Reduction", March 2001, Paris.
- COHEN, N. (2001), Rural Connectivity: Grameen Telecom's Village Phones, World Resource Institute, Washington, D.C.
- DEPARTMENT FOR INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT (2000), "ICTs Making a Useful Contribution to Development", DFID / DGIS ICT Newsletter, London.
- DYMOND, A. (2001), High Speed Internet via Satellite: is it the Great Equaliser? Vancouver.
- THE ECONOMIST (2001), "Another kind of net work", London.
- ERNBERG, J. (1998), "Universal Access for Rural Development: From Action to Strategies", Paper presented at the First International Conference on Rural Telecommunications, 30 Nov.-2 Dec. 1998, Washington, D.C. (Available online at www.itu.int/ITYU-D-UniversalAccess/johan/papers/NTCA_johan.htm).
- FAGAN, K. (2003), "2 Bay Area Visionaries Head to Laos with a Tough Little PC for Villagers", San Francisco Chronicle, 17 January, available for download at: http://www.sfgate.com/cgibin/article.cgi?file=/chronicle/archive/2003/01/17/MN86676.DTL.
- GIRARDET, G. (2001), "The Case for Public Access", Presentation to G8 UK Dot Force, February, London.
- GOLDSTEIN, A. and D. O'CONNOR (2000), *E-Commerce for Development: Prospects and Policy Issues*, Technical Paper No. 164, OECD Development Centre, Paris.
- GOLDSTEIN, A. and D. O'CONNOR (eds.) (2002), *Electronic Commerce for Development*, Development Centre Studies, OECD, Paris.

- HARDY, A.P. (1980), "The Role of the Telephone in Economic Development", *Telecommunications Policy*, December, pp. 278-286.
- HOWARD, J., C. SIMMS and E. SIMANIS (2001), "Sustainable Deployment for Rural Connectivity: The N-Logue Model", World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C.
- IDRC (1999), Success Stories of Rural ICTs in a Developing Country, Ottawa.
- INTELECON RESEARCH AND CONSULTANCY LTD. (1999 AND 2000), "Funds for Rural Telecom Development: Experience in Latin America".
- INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANISATION (2001), "World Employment Report 2001". Geneva.
- INTERNATIONAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS UNION (ITU) (1998), "World Telecommunications Report: Universal Access World Telecommunications Indicators", Geneva.
- ITU (2001), "New Technologies for Rural Applications", Geneva.
- ITU (2002), http://www.itu.int/ITU-D/ict/statistics.
- KAYANI, R. and A. DYMOND (1997), "Options for Rural Telecommunications Development". World Bank Technical Paper, Washington, D.C.
- KELLY, T. (2000), Untitled paper presented at the Internet and Telecoms and Summit June 2000, Gambia.
- KENNY, C. (2001), "Information and Communication Technologies and Poverty", *TechKnowLogia*, July/August.
- KHELLADI, Y. (2001), "What Works: The Infocentros Telecenter Model", A Digital Dividend Study, World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C., July.
- LEFF, N.H. (1984), "Externalities, Information Costs, and Social Benefit-Cost Analysis for Economic Development: An Example from Telecommunications", *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 32(2), January, pp. 255-276.
- LISHAN, A. (2001), "Information and Communication Technology and Poverty Reduction: Perspectives from the African Experience", Draft Note for IFPRI Consultation on ICT and Poverty Reduction, Paris.
- MANSELL, R. and U. WHEN (EDS.) (1998), *Knowledge Societies: Information Technology for Sustainable Development*, Oxford University Press, New York, for the UN Commission on Science and Technology for Development.
- MINGES, M. (2001), Counting the Net: Internet Access Indicators. International Telecommunications Union, Geneva.
- OECD DEVELOPMENT CO-OPERATION DIRECTORATE (JOINTLY WITH THE INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH CENTRE) (2001), "Donor Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Initiatives and Programmes", Paper contributed to the Joint OECD/UN/UNDP/World Bank Global Forum on Exploiting the Digital Opportunities for Poverty Reduction, Paris.
- OESTERMAN, S. (2001), "Telecentres: Experiences, Lessons and Trends", Presentation at the Asian Development Bank Workshop "Information and Communication Technology for Developing Asia", 21-27 Feb. 2001, Singapore.
- PAISLEY, L. and D. RICHARDSON (1999), "The First Mile of Connectivity", Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), Rome.
- PRAHALAD, C.K. AND A. HAMMOND (N.D.), "What Works: Serving the Poor, Profitably. A Private Sector Strategy for Global Digital Opportunity", Markle Foundation and World Resources Institute.
- PRINGLE, I. (2001), Final Report on the Seminar "Integrating New and Traditional Information and Communication Technologies for Community Development", UNESCO.

- RICHARDSON, D. (N.D.), "Telecom & Poverty Reduction in Rural Communities: Good Business & Good Development", Guelph, Ontario, Canada.
- RICHARDSON, D., R. RAMIREZ and M. HAQ (2000), "Grameen Telecom's Village Phone Programme in Rural Bangladesh: A Multi-Media Case Study", Report of the Telecommons Development Group to the Canadian International Development Agency, Guelph, Ontario.
- RICHARDSON, D. (2001), Unpublished presentation to the Telecommunications Executive Management Council of Canada (TEMIC), Rural Telecommunication Regulator Training Seminar, ESG International's TeleCommons Development Group (www.telecommons.com).
- SÁENZ, P., N. GARCÍA and L. WOLFF (2002), VSATs and Rural Education: An Operational Reality at Last, TechKnowLogia, January March 2002.
- SAUNDERS, R., J. WARFORD and B. WELLENIUS (1994), *Telecommunications and Economic Development*, 2nd Edition, The World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- SCHWARTZ, R.E. (1996), Wireless Communications in Developing Countries, Artech House, Boston & London.
- SHORE, K. (1999), "The Internet Comes to Rural India", IDRC, processed (www.idrc.ca).
- TELECOMMONS DEVELOPMENT GROUP (N.D.), Presentation: "Multi-stakeholder Engagement for Rural Telecommunications: Engaging Communities in Telecommunications Planning", Guelph, Ontario, Canada.
- TORERO, M, S.K. CHOWDHURY and V. GALDO (2002), "Willingness to Pay for the Rural Telephone Service in Bangladesh and Peru", ZEF Bonn, Discussion Papers on Development Policy, October.
- TSCHANG, T., M. CHULADUL and T.T. LE (2002), "Scaling-Up Information Services for Development: A Framework of Increasing Returns for Telecentres", *Journal of International Development*, 14, pp. 129-141.
- UNITED NATIONS ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR AFRICA (2001), "Challenges and Opportunities of Electronic Commerce for Africa", Paper presented at the Business-Government Forum on Electronic Commerce: Maximising the Digital Opportunities, 15 17 January 2001, Dubai.
- UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (UNDP); ACCENTURE; THE MARKLE FOUNDATION (2001), *ICT for Development: Dynamic Opportunities*, New York.
- UNITED STATES STATE DEPARTMENT (2001), "Country Commercial Guide", Washington, D.C.
- WALLSTEN, S. (2002), "Regulation and Internet Use in Developing Countries", World Bank, December, processed.
- WELLENIUS, B. (1997a), Extending Telecommunications Service to Rural Areas: The Chilean Experience, World Bank Viewpoint Note No. 105.
- WELLENIUS, B. (1997b), Telecommunications Reform: How to Succeed, World Bank Viewpoint Note No.130.
- WORLD BANK (2002), World Development Indicators 2002.
- WORLD BANK (N.D.), "Meeting the Challenge: Rural Energy and Development for 2 Billion People", Washington, D.C.

OTHER TITLES IN THE SERIES/ AUTRES TITRES DANS LA SÉRIE

The former series known as "Technical Papers" and "Webdocs" merged in November 2003 into "Development Centre Working Papers". In the new series, former Webdocs 1-17 follow former Technical Papers 1-212 as Working Papers 213-229.

All these documents may be downloaded from:

http://www.oecd.org/dev/papers or obtained via e-mail (cendev.contact@oecd.org)

Working Paper No.1, Macroeconomic Adjustment and Income Distribution: A Macro-Micro Simulation Model, by François Bourguignon, William H. Branson and Jaime de Melo, March 1989.

Working Paper No. 2, International Interactions in Food and Agricultural Policies: The Effect of Alternative Policies, by Joachim Zietz and Alberto Valdés, April, 1989.

Working Paper No. 3, The Impact of Budget Retrenchment on Income Distribution in Indonesia: A Social Accounting Matrix Application, by Steven Keuning and Erik Thorbecke, June 1989.

Working Paper No. 3a, Statistical Annex: The Impact of Budget Retrenchment, June 1989.

Document de travail No. 4, Le Rééquilibrage entre le secteur public et le secteur privé : le cas du Mexique, par C.-A. Michalet, juin 1989.

Working Paper No. 5, Rebalancing the Public and Private Sectors: The Case of Malaysia, by R. Leeds, July 1989.

Working Paper No. 6, Efficiency, Welfare Effects, and Political Feasibility of Alternative Antipoverty and Adjustment Programs, by Alain de Janvry and Elisabeth Sadoulet, January 1990.

Document de travail No. 7, Ajustement et distribution des revenus : application d'un modèle macro-micro au Maroc, par Christian Morrisson, avec la collaboration de Sylvie Lambert et Akiko Suwa, décembre 1989.

Working Paper No. 8, Emerging Maize Biotechnologies and their Potential Impact, by W. Burt Sundquist, October 1989.

Document de travail No. 9, Analyse des variables socio-culturelles et de l'ajustement en Côte d'Ivoire, par W. Weekes-Vagliani, janvier 1990.

Working Paper No. 10, A Financial Computable General Equilibrium Model for the Analysis of Ecuador's Stabilization Programs, by André Fargeix and Elisabeth Sadoulet, February 1990.

Working Paper No. 11, Macroeconomic Aspects, Foreign Flows and Domestic Savings Performance in Developing Countries: A "State of The Art" Report, by Anand Chandavarkar, February 1990.

Working Paper No. 12, Tax Revenue Implications of the Real Exchange Rate: Econometric Evidence from Korea and Mexico, by Viriginia Fierro and Helmut Reisen, February 1990.

Working Paper No. 13, Agricultural Growth and Economic Development: The Case of Pakistan, by Naved Hamid and Wouter Tims, April 1990.

Working Paper No. 14, Rebalancing the Public and Private Sectors in Developing Countries: The Case of Ghana, by H. Akuoko-Frimpong, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 15, Agriculture and the Economic Cycle: An Economic and Econometric Analysis with Special Reference to Brazil, by Florence Contré and Ian Goldin, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 16, Comparative Advantage: Theory and Application to Developing Country Agriculture, by Ian Goldin, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 17, Biotechnology and Developing Country Agriculture: Maize in Brazil, by Bernardo Sorj and John Wilkinson, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 18, *Economic Policies and Sectoral Growth: Argentina 1913-1984*, by Yair Mundlak, Domingo Cavallo, Roberto Domenech, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 19, *Biotechnology and Developing Country Agriculture: Maize In Mexico*, by Jaime A. Matus Gardea, Arturo Puente Gonzalez and Cristina Lopez Peralta, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 20, Biotechnology and Developing Country Agriculture: Maize in Thailand, by Suthad Setboonsarng, July 1990.

Working Paper No. 21, International Comparisons of Efficiency in Agricultural Production, by Guillermo Flichmann, July 1990.

Working Paper No. 22, Unemployment in Developing Countries: New Light on an Old Problem, by David Turnham and Denizhan Eröcal, July 1990.

Working Paper No. 23, Optimal Currency Composition of Foreign Debt: the Case of Five Developing Countries, by Pier Giorgio Gawronski, August 1990.

Working Paper No. 24, From Globalization to Regionalization: the Mexican Case, by Wilson Peres Núñez, August 1990.

Working Paper No. 25, *Electronics and Development in Venezuela: A User-Oriented Strategy and its Policy Implications*, by Carlota Perez, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 26, The Legal Protection of Software: Implications for Latecomer Strategies in Newly Industrialising Economies (NIEs) and Middle-Income Economies (MIEs), by Carlos Maria Correa, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 27, Specialization, Technical Change and Competitiveness in the Brazilian Electronics Industry, by Claudio R. Frischtak, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 28, Internationalization Strategies of Japanese Electronics Companies: Implications for Asian Newly Industrializing Economies (NIEs), by Bundo Yamada, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 29, The Status and an Evaluation of the Electronics Industry in Taiwan, by Gee San, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 30, The Indian Electronics Industry: Current Status, Perspectives and Policy Options, by Ghayur Alam, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 31, Comparative Advantage in Agriculture in Ghana, by James Pickett and E. Shaeeldin, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 32, Debt Overhang, Liquidity Constraints and Adjustment Incentives, by Bert Hofman and Helmut Reisen, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 34, Biotechnology and Developing Country Agriculture: Maize in Indonesia, by Hidjat Nataatmadja et al., January 1991.

Working Paper No. 35, *Changing Comparative Advantage in Thai Agriculture*, by Ammar Siamwalla, Suthad Setboonsarng and Prasong Werakarnjanapongs, March 1991.

Working Paper No. 36, Capital Flows and the External Financing of Turkey's Imports, by Ziya Önis and Süleyman Özmucur, July 1991.

Working Paper No. 37, The External Financing of Indonesia's Imports, by Glenn P. Jenkins and Henry B.F. Lim, July 1991.

Working Paper No. 38, Long-term Capital Reflow under Macroeconomic Stabilization in Latin America, by Beatriz Armendariz de Aghion, April 1991.

Working Paper No. 39, Buybacks of LDC Debt and the Scope for Forgiveness, by Beatriz Armendariz de Aghion, April 1991.

Working Paper No. 40, Measuring and Modelling Non-Tariff Distortions with Special Reference to Trade in Agricultural Commodities, by Peter J. Lloyd, July 1991.

Working Paper No. 41, The Changing Nature of IMF Conditionality, by Jacques J. Polak, August 1991.

Working Paper No. 42, *Time-Varying Estimates on the Openness of the Capital Account in Korea and Taiwan*, by Helmut Reisen and Hélène Yèches, August 1991.

Working Paper No. 43, *Toward a Concept of Development Agreements*, by F. Gerard Adams, August 1991.

Document de travail No. 44, Le Partage du fardeau entre les créanciers de pays débiteurs défaillants, par Jean-Claude Berthélemy et Ann Vourc'h, septembre 1991.

Working Paper No. 45, The External Financing of Thailand's Imports, by Supote Chunanunthathum, October 1991.

Working Paper No. 46, *The External Financing of Brazilian Imports*, by Enrico Colombatto, with Elisa Luciano, Luca Gargiulo, Pietro Garibaldi and Giuseppe Russo, October 1991.

Working Paper No. 47, Scenarios for the World Trading System and their Implications for Developing Countries, by Robert Z. Lawrence, November 1991.

Working Paper No. 48, Trade Policies in a Global Context: Technical Specifications of the Rural/Urban-North/South (RUNS) Applied General Equilibrium Model, by Jean-Marc Burniaux and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, November 1991.

Working Paper No. 49, Macro-Micro Linkages: Structural Adjustment and Fertilizer Policy in Sub-Saharan Africa, by Jean-Marc Fontaine with the collaboration of Alice Sindzingre, December 1991.

Working Paper No. 50, Aggregation by Industry in General Equilibrium Models with International Trade, by Peter J. Lloyd, December 1991.

Working Paper No. 51, Policy and Entrepreneurial Responses to the Montreal Protocol: Some Evidence from the Dynamic Asian Economies, by David C. O'Connor, December 1991.

Working Paper No. 52, On the Pricing of LDC Debt: an Analysis Based on Historical Evidence from Latin America, by Beatriz Armendariz de Aghion, February 1992.

Working Paper No. 53, *Economic Regionalisation and Intra-Industry Trade: Pacific-Asian Perspectives*, by Kiichiro Fukasaku, February 1992.

Working Paper No. 54, Debt Conversions in Yugoslavia, by Mojmir Mrak, February 1992.

Working Paper No. 55, Evaluation of Nigeria's Debt-Relief Experience (1985-1990), by N.E. Ogbe, March 1992.

Document de travail No. 56, L'Expérience de l'allégement de la dette du Mali, par Jean-Claude Berthélemy, février 1992.

Working Paper No. 57, Conflict or Indifference: US Multinationals in a World of Regional Trading Blocs, by Louis T. Wells, Jr., March 1992.

Working Paper No. 58, Japan's Rapidly Emerging Strategy Toward Asia, by Edward J. Lincoln, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 59, *The Political Economy of Stabilization Programmes in Developing Countries*, by Bruno S. Frey and Reiner Eichenberger, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 60, Some Implications of Europe 1992 for Developing Countries, by Sheila Page, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 61, Taiwanese Corporations in Globalisation and Regionalisation, by Gee San, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 62, Lessons from the Family Planning Experience for Community-Based Environmental Education, by Winifred Weekes-Vagliani, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 63, *Mexican Agriculture in the Free Trade Agreement: Transition Problems in Economic Reform*, by Santiago Levy and Sweder van Wijnbergen, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 64, Offensive and Defensive Responses by European Multinationals to a World of Trade Blocs, by John M. Stopford, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 65, Economic Integration in the Pacific Region, by Richard Drobnick, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 66, Latin America in a Changing Global Environment, by Winston Fritsch, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 67, An Assessment of the Brady Plan Agreements, by Jean-Claude Berthélemy and Robert Lensink, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 68, The Impact of Economic Reform on the Performance of the Seed Sector in Eastern and Southern Africa, by Elizabeth Cromwell, June 1992.

Working Paper No. 69, Impact of Structural Adjustment and Adoption of Technology on Competitiveness of Major Cocoa Producing Countries, by Emily M. Bloomfield and R. Antony Lass, June 1992.

Working Paper No. 70, Structural Adjustment and Moroccan Agriculture: an Assessment of the Reforms in the Sugar and Cereal Sectors, by Jonathan Kydd and Sophie Thoyer, June 1992.

Document de travail No. 71, L'Allégement de la dette au Club de Paris : les évolutions récentes en perspective, par Ann Vourc'h, juin 1992.

Working Paper No. 72, Biotechnology and the Changing Public/Private Sector Balance: Developments in Rice and Cocoa, by Carliene Brenner, July 1992.

Working Paper No. 73, Namibian Agriculture: Policies and Prospects, by Walter Elkan, Peter Amutenya, Jochbeth Andima, Robin Sherbourne and Eline van der Linden, July 1992.

Working Paper No. 74, Agriculture and the Policy Environment: Zambia and Zimbabwe, by Doris J. Jansen and Andrew Rukovo, July 1992.

Working Paper No. 75, Agricultural Productivity and Economic Policies: Concepts and Measurements, by Yair Mundlak, August 1992.

Working Paper No. 76, Structural Adjustment and the Institutional Dimensions of Agricultural Research and Development in Brazil: Soybeans, Wheat and Sugar Cane, by John Wilkinson and Bernardo Sorj, August 1992.

Working Paper No. 77, The Impact of Laws and Regulations on Micro and Small Enterprises in Niger and Swaziland, by Isabelle Journard, Carl Liedholm and Donald Mead, September 1992.

Working Paper No. 78, Co-Financing Transactions between Multilateral Institutions and International Banks, by Michel Bouchet and Amit Ghose, October 1992.

Document de travail No. 79, Allégement de la dette et croissance : le cas mexicain, par Jean-Claude Berthélemy et Ann Vourc'h, octobre 1992.

Document de travail No. 80, Le Secteur informel en Tunisie : cadre réglementaire et pratique courante, par Abderrahman Ben Zakour et Farouk Kria, novembre 1992.

Working Paper No. 81, Small-Scale Industries and Institutional Framework in Thailand, by Naruemol Bunjongjit and Xavier Oudin, November 1992.

Working Paper No. 81a, Statistical Annex: Small-Scale Industries and Institutional Framework in Thailand, by Naruemol Bunjongjit and Xavier Oudin, November 1992.

Document de travail No. 82, L'Expérience de l'allégement de la dette du Niger, par Ann Vourc'h et Maina Boukar Moussa, novembre 1992. Working Paper No. 83, Stabilization and Structural Adjustment in Indonesia: an Intertemporal General Equilibrium Analysis, by David Roland-Holst, November 1992.

Working Paper No. 84, Striving for International Competitiveness: Lessons from Electronics for Developing Countries, by Jan Maarten de Vet, March 1993.

Document de travail No. 85, Micro-entreprises et cadre institutionnel en Algérie, par Hocine Benissad, mars 1993.

Working Paper No. 86, Informal Sector and Regulations in Ecuador and Jamaica, by Emilio Klein and Victor E. Tokman, August 1993.

Working Paper No. 87, Alternative Explanations of the Trade-Output Correlation in the East Asian Economies, by Colin I. Bradford Jr. and Naomi Chakwin, August 1993.

Document de travail No. 88, La Faisabilité politique de l'ajustement dans les pays africains, par Christian Morrisson, Jean-Dominique Lafay et Sébastien Dessus, novembre 1993.

Working Paper No. 89, China as a Leading Pacific Economy, by Kiichiro Fukasaku and Mingyuan Wu, November 1993.

Working Paper No. 90, A Detailed Input-Output Table for Morocco, 1990, by Maurizio Bussolo and David Roland-Holst November 1993. Working Paper No. 91, International Trade and the Transfer of Environmental Costs and Benefits, by Hiro Lee and David Roland-Holst, December 1993.

Working Paper No. 92, Economic Instruments in Environmental Policy: Lessons from the OECD Experience and their Relevance to Developing Economies, by Jean-Philippe Barde, January 1994.

Working Paper No. 93, What Can Developing Countries Learn from OECD Labour Market Programmes and Policies?, by Åsa Sohlman with David Turnham, January 1994.

Working Paper No. 94, Trade Liberalization and Employment Linkages in the Pacific Basin, by Hiro Lee and David Roland-Holst, February 1994.

Working Paper No. 95, Participatory Development and Gender: Articulating Concepts and Cases, by Winifred Weekes-Vagliani, February 1994.

Document de travail No. 96, Promouvoir la maîtrise locale et régionale du développement : une démarche participative à Madagascar, par Philippe de Rham et Bernard Lecomte, juin 1994.

Working Paper No. 97, The OECD Green Model: an Updated Overview, by Hiro Lee, Joaquim Oliveira-Martins and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, August 1994.

Working Paper No. 98, Pension Funds, Capital Controls and Macroeconomic Stability, by Helmut Reisen and John Williamson, August 1994.

Working Paper No. 99, Trade and Pollution Linkages: Piecemeal Reform and Optimal Intervention, by John Beghin, David Roland-Holst and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, October 1994.

Working Paper No. 100, International Initiatives in Biotechnology for Developing Country Agriculture: Promises and Problems, by Carliene Brenner and John Komen, October 1994.

Working Paper No. 101, Input-based Pollution Estimates for Environmental Assessment in Developing Countries, by Sébastien Dessus, David Roland-Holst and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, October 1994.

Working Paper No. 102, Transitional Problems from Reform to Growth: Safety Nets and Financial Efficiency in the Adjusting Egyptian Economy, by Mahmoud Abdel-Fadil, December 1994.

Working Paper No. 103, Biotechnology and Sustainable Agriculture: Lessons from India, by Ghayur Alam, December 1994.

Working Paper No. 104, Crop Biotechnology and Sustainability: a Case Study of Colombia, by Luis R. Sanint, January 1995. Working Paper No. 105, Biotechnology and Sustainable Agriculture: the Case of Mexico, by José Luis Solleiro Rebolledo, January 1995.

Working Paper No. 106, *Empirical Specifications for a General Equilibrium Analysis of Labor Market Policies and Adjustments*, by Andréa Maechler and David Roland-Holst, May 1995.

Document de travail No. 107, Les Migrants, partenaires de la coopération internationale : le cas des Maliens de France, par Christophe Daum, juillet 1995.

Document de travail No. 108, Ouverture et croissance industrielle en Chine : étude empirique sur un échantillon de villes, par Sylvie Démurger, septembre 1995.

Working Paper No. 109, Biotechnology and Sustainable Crop Production in Zimbabwe, by John J. Woodend, December 1995.

Document de travail No. 110, Politiques de l'environnement et libéralisation des échanges au Costa Rica : une vue d'ensemble, par Sébastien Dessus et Maurizio Bussolo, février 1996.

Working Paper No. 111, Grow Now/Clean Later, or the Pursuit of Sustainable Development?, by David O'Connor, March 1996.

Working Paper No. 112, *Economic Transition and Trade-Policy Reform: Lessons from China*, by Kiichiro Fukasaku and Henri-Bernard Solignac Lecomte, July 1996.

Working Paper No. 113, Chinese Outward Investment in Hong Kong: Trends, Prospects and Policy Implications, by Yun-Wing Sung, July 1996.

Working Paper No. 114, Vertical Intra-industry Trade between China and OECD Countries, by Lisbeth Hellvin, July 1996.

Document de travail No. 115, Le Rôle du capital public dans la croissance des pays en développement au cours des années 80, par Sébastien Dessus et Rémy Herrera, juillet 1996.

Working Paper No. 116, General Equilibrium Modelling of Trade and the Environment, by John Beghin, Sébastien Dessus, David Roland-Holst and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, September 1996.

Working Paper No. 117, Labour Market Aspects of State Enterprise Reform in Viet Nam, by David O'Connor, September 1996.

Document de travail No. 118, Croissance et compétitivité de l'industrie manufacturière au Sénégal, par Thierry Latreille et Aristomène Varoudakis, octobre 1996.

Working Paper No. 119, Evidence on Trade and Wages in the Developing World, by Donald J. Robbins, December 1996.

Working Paper No. 120, Liberalising Foreign Investments by Pension Funds: Positive and Normative Aspects, by Helmut Reisen, January 1997.

Document de travail No. 121, Capital Humain, ouverture extérieure et croissance : estimation sur données de panel d'un modèle à coefficients variables, par Jean-Claude Berthélemy, Sébastien Dessus et Aristomène Varoudakis, janvier 1997.

Working Paper No. 122, Corruption: The Issues, by Andrew W. Goudie and David Stasavage, January 1997.

Working Paper No. 123, Outflows of Capital from China, by David Wall, March 1997.

Working Paper No. 124, *Emerging Market Risk and Sovereign Credit Ratings*, by Guillermo Larraín, Helmut Reisen and Julia von Maltzan, April 1997.

Working Paper No. 125, Urban Credit Co-operatives in China, by Eric Girardin and Xie Ping, August 1997.

Working Paper No. 126, Fiscal Alternatives of Moving from Unfunded to Funded Pensions, by Robert Holzmann, August 1997.

Working Paper No. 127, Trade Strategies for the Southern Mediterranean, by Peter A. Petri, December 1997.

Working Paper No. 128, The Case of Missing Foreign Investment in the Southern Mediterranean, by Peter A. Petri, December 1997.

Working Paper No. 129, Economic Reform in Egypt in a Changing Global Economy, by Joseph Licari, December 1997.

Working Paper No. 130, Do Funded Pensions Contribute to Higher Aggregate Savings? A Cross-Country Analysis, by Jeanine Bailliu and Helmut Reisen, December 1997.

Working Paper No. 131, Long-run Growth Trends and Convergence Across Indian States, by Rayaprolu Nagaraj, Aristomène Varoudakis and Marie-Ange Véganzonès, January 1998.

Working Paper No. 132, Sustainable and Excessive Current Account Deficits, by Helmut Reisen, February 1998.

Working Paper No. 133, Intellectual Property Rights and Technology Transfer in Developing Country Agriculture: Rhetoric and Reality, by Carliene Brenner, March 1998.

Working Paper No. 134, *Exchange-rate Management and Manufactured Exports in Sub-Saharan Africa*, by Khalid Sekkat and Aristomène Varoudakis, March 1998.

Working Paper No. 135, *Trade Integration with Europe, Export Diversification and Economic Growth in Egypt,* by Sébastien Dessus and Akiko Suwa-Eisenmann, June 1998.

Working Paper No. 136, Domestic Causes of Currency Crises: Policy Lessons for Crisis Avoidance, by Helmut Reisen, June 1998.

Working Paper No. 137, A Simulation Model of Global Pension Investment, by Landis MacKellar and Helmut Reisen, August 1998.

Working Paper No. 138, Determinants of Customs Fraud and Corruption: Evidence from Two African Countries, by David Stasavage and Cécile Daubrée, August 1998.

Working Paper No. 139, State Infrastructure and Productive Performance in Indian Manufacturing, by Arup Mitra, Aristomène Varoudakis and Marie-Ange Véganzonès, August 1998.

Working Paper No. 140, *Rural Industrial Development in Viet Nam and China: A Study in Contrasts,* by David O'Connor, September 1998. Working Paper No. 141, *Labour Market Aspects of State Enterprise Reform in China,* by Fan Gang, Maria Rosa Lunati and David O'Connor, October 1998.

Working Paper No. 142, Fighting Extreme Poverty in Brazil: The Influence of Citizens' Action on Government Policies, by Fernanda Lopes de Carvalho, November 1998.

Working Paper No. 143, How Bad Governance Impedes Poverty Alleviation in Bangladesh, by Rehman Sobhan, November 1998.

Document de travail No. 144, La libéralisation de l'agriculture tunisienne et l'Union européenne : une vue prospective, par Mohamed Abdelbasset Chemingui et Sébastien Dessus, février 1999.

Working Paper No. 145, *Economic Policy Reform and Growth Prospects in Emerging African Economies,* by Patrick Guillaumont, Sylviane Guillaumont Jeanneney and Aristomène Varoudakis, March 1999.

Working Paper No. 146, Structural Policies for International Competitiveness in Manufacturing: The Case of Cameroon, by Ludvig Söderling, March 1999.

Working Paper No. 147, China's Unfinished Open-Economy Reforms: Liberalisation of Services, by Kiichiro Fukasaku, Yu Ma and Qiumei Yang, April 1999.

Working Paper No. 148, Boom and Bust and Sovereign Ratings, by Helmut Reisen and Julia von Maltzan, June 1999. Working Paper No. 149, Economic Opening and the Demand for Skills in Developing Countries: A Review of Theory and Evidence, by David O'Connor and Maria Rosa Lunati, June 1999. Working Paper No. 150, The Role of Capital Accumulation, Adjustment and Structural Change for Economic Take-off: Empirical Evidence from African Growth Episodes, by Jean-Claude Berthélemy and Ludvig Söderling, July 1999. Working Paper No. 151, Gender, Human Capital and Growth: Evidence from Six Latin American Countries, by Donald J. Robbins, September 1999. Working Paper No. 152, The Politics and Economics of Transition to an Open Market Economy in Viet Nam, by James Riedel and William S. Turley, September 1999. Working Paper No. 153, The Economics and Politics of Transition to an Open Market Economy: China, by Wing Thye Woo, October 1999. Working Paper No. 154, Infrastructure Development and Regulatory Reform in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Case of Air Transport, by Andrea E. Goldstein, October 1999. Working Paper No. 155, The Economics and Politics of Transition to an Open Market Economy: India, by Ashok V. Desai, October 1999. Working Paper No. 156, Climate Policy Without Tears: CGE-Based Ancillary Benefits Estimates for Chile, by Sébastien Dessus and David O'Connor, November 1999. Document de travail No. 157, Dépenses d'éducation, qualité de l'éducation et pauvreté : l'exemple de cinq pays d'Afrique francophone, par Katharina Michaelowa, avril 2000. Document de travail No. 158, Une estimation de la pauvreté en Afrique subsaharienne d'après les données anthropométriques, par Christian Morrisson, Hélène Guilmeau et Charles Linskens, mai 2000. Working Paper No. 159, Converging European Transitions, by Jorge Braga de Macedo, July 2000. Working Paper No. 160, Capital Flows and Growth in Developing Countries: Recent Empirical Evidence, by Marcelo Soto, July 2000. Working Paper No. 161, Global Capital Flows and the Environment in the 21st Century, by David O'Connor, July 2000. Working Paper No. 162, Financial Crises and International Architecture: A "Eurocentric" Perspective, by Jorge Braga de Macedo, August 2000. Document de travail No. 163, Résoudre le problème de la dette : de l'initiative PPTE à Cologne, par Anne Joseph, août 2000. Working Paper No. 164, E-Commerce for Development: Prospects and Policy Issues, by Andrea Goldstein and David O'Connor, September 2000. Working Paper No. 165, Negative Alchemy? Corruption and Composition of Capital Flows, by Shang-Jin Wei, October 2000. Working Paper No. 166, The HIPC Initiative: True and False Promises, by Daniel Cohen, October 2000. Document de travail No. 167, Les facteurs explicatifs de la malnutrition en Afrique subsaharienne, par Christian Morrisson et Charles Linskens, octobre 2000. Working Paper No. 168, Human Capital and Growth: A Synthesis Report, by Christopher A. Pissarides, November 2000. Working Paper No. 169, Obstacles to Expanding Intra-African Trade, by Roberto Longo and Khalid Sekkat, March 2001. Working Paper No. 170, Regional Integration In West Africa, by Ernest Aryeetey, March 2001. Working Paper No. 171, Regional Integration Experience in the Eastern African Region, by Andrea Goldstein and Njuguna S. Ndung'u, March 2001. Working Paper No. 172, Integration and Co-operation in Southern Africa, by Carolyn Jenkins, March 2001. Working Paper No. 173, FDI in Sub-Saharan Africa, by Ludger Odenthal, March 2001 Document de travail No. 174, La réforme des télécommunications en Afrique subsaharienne, par Patrick Plane, mars 2001. Working Paper No. 175, Fighting Corruption in Customs Administration: What Can We Learn from Recent Experiences?, by Irène Hors; April 2001. Working Paper No. 176, Globalisation and Transformation: Illusions and Reality, by Grzegorz W. Kolodko, May 2001. Working Paper No. 177, External Solvency, Dollarisation and Investment Grade: Towards a Virtuous Circle?, by Martin Grandes, June 2001. Document de travail No. 178, Congo 1965-1999: Les espoirs décus du « Brésil africain », par Joseph Maton avec Henri-Bernard Solignac Lecomte, septembre 2001. Working Paper No. 179, Growth and Human Capital: Good Data, Good Results, by Daniel Cohen and Marcelo Soto, September 2001. Working Paper No. 180, Corporate Governance and National Development, by Charles P. Oman, October 2001. Working Paper No. 181, How Globalisation Improves Governance, by Federico Bonaglia, Jorge Braga de Macedo and Maurizio Bussolo, November 2001. Working Paper No. 182, Clearing the Air in India: The Economics of Climate Policy with Ancillary Benefits, by Maurizio Bussolo and David O'Connor, November 2001. Working Paper No. 183, Globalisation, Poverty and Inequality in sub-Saharan Africa: A Political Economy Appraisal, by Yvonne M. Tsikata, December 2001. Working Paper No. 184, Distribution and Growth in Latin America in an Era of Structural Reform: The Impact of Globalisation, by Samuel A. Morley, December 2001. Working Paper No. 185, Globalisation, Liberalisation, Poverty and Income Inequality in Southeast Asia, by K.S. Jomo, December 2001. Working Paper No. 186, Globalisation, Growth and Income Inequality: The African Experience, by Steve Kayizzi-Mugerwa, December 2001. Working Paper No. 187, The Social Impact of Globalisation in Southeast Asia, by Mari Pangestu, December 2001. Working Paper No. 188, Where Does Inequality Come From? Ideas and Implications for Latin America, by James A. Robinson, December 2001. Working Paper No. 189, Policies and Institutions for E-Commerce Readiness: What Can Developing Countries Learn from OECD Experience?, by Paulo Bastos Tigre and David O'Connor, April 2002.

Document de travail No. 190, La réforme du secteur financier en Afrique, par Anne Joseph, juillet 2002.

Working Paper No. 191, Virtuous Circles? Human Capital Formation, Economic Development and the Multinational Enterprise, by Ethan B. Kapstein, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 192, Skill Upgrading in Developing Countries: Has Inward Foreign Direct Investment Played a Role?, by Matthew J. Slaughter, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 193, Government Policies for Inward Foreign Direct Investment in Developing Countries: Implications for Human Capital Formation and Income Inequality, by Dirk Willem te Velde, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 194, Foreign Direct Investment and Intellectual Capital Formation in Southeast Asia, by Bryan K. Ritchie, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 195, FDI and Human Capital: A Research Agenda, by Magnus Blomström and Ari Kokko, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 196, Knowledge Diffusion from Multinational Enterprises: The Role of Domestic and Foreign Knowledge-Enhancing Activities, by Yasuyuki Todo and Koji Miyamoto, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 197, Why Are Some Countries So Poor? Another Look at the Evidence and a Message of Hope, by Daniel Cohen and Marcelo Soto, October 2002.

Working Paper No. 198, Choice of an Exchange-Rate Arrangement, Institutional Setting and Inflation: Empirical Evidence from Latin America, by Andreas Freytag, October 2002.

Working Paper No. 199, Will Basel II Affect International Capital Flows to Emerging Markets?, by Beatrice Weder and Michael Wedow, October 2002.

Working Paper No. 200, Convergence and Divergence of Sovereign Bond Spreads: Lessons from Latin America, by Martin Grandes, October 2002.

Working Paper No. 201, Prospects for Emerging-Market Flows amid Investor Concerns about Corporate Governance, by Helmut Reisen, November 2002.

Working Paper No. 202, Rediscovering Education in Growth Regressions, by Marcelo Soto, November 2002.

Working Paper No. 203, Incentive Bidding for Mobile Investment: Economic Consequences and Potential Responses, by Andrew Charlton, January 2003.

Working Paper No. 204, Health Insurance for the Poor? Determinants of participation Community-Based Health Insurance Schemes in Rural Senegal, by Johannes Jütting, January 2003.

Working Paper No. 205, China's Software Industry and its Implications for India, by Ted Tschang, February 2003.

Working Paper No. 206, Agricultural and Human Health Impacts of Climate Policy in China: A General Equilibrium Analysis with Special Reference to Guangdong, by David O'Connor, Fan Zhai, Kristin Aunan, Terje Berntsen and Haakon Vennemo, March 2003. Working Paper No. 207, India's Information Technology Sector: What Contribution to Broader Economic Development?, by Nirvikar

Singh, March 2003. Working Paper No. 208, Public Procurement: Lessons from Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda, by Walter Odhiambo and Paul Kamau,

March 2003. Working Paper No. 209, *Export Diversification in Low-Income Countries: An International Challenge after Doha*, by Federico Bonaglia and Kiichiro Fukasaku, June 2003.

Working Paper No. 210, Institutions and Development: A Critical Review, by Johannes Jütting, July 2003.

Working Paper No. 211, Human Capital Formation and Foreign Direct Investment in Developing Countries, by Koji Miyamoto, July 2003.

Working Paper No. 212, Central Asia since 1991: The Experience of the New Independent States, by Richard Pomfret, July 2003.

Working Paper No. 213, A Multi-Region Social Accounting Matrix (1995) and Regional Environmental General Equilibrium Model for India (REGEMI), by Maurizio Bussolo, Mohamed Chemingui and David O'Connor, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 214, Ratings Since the Asian Crisis, by Helmut Reisen, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 215, Development Redux: Reflactions for a New Paradigm, by Jorge Braga de Macedo, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 216, The Political Economy of Regulatory Reform: Telecoms in the Southern Mediterranean, by Andrea Goldstein, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 217, The Impact of Education on Fertility and Child Mortality: Do Fathers Really Matter Less than Mothers?, by Lucia Breierova and Esther Duflo, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 218, Float in Order to Fix? Lessons from Emerging Markets for EU Accession Countries, by Jorge Braga de Macedo and Helmut Reisen, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 219, *Globalisation in Developing Countries: The Role of Transaction Costs in Explaining Economic Performance in India,* by Maurizio Bussolo and John Whalley, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 220, Poverty Reduction Strategies in a Budget-Constrained Economy: The Case of Ghana, by Maurizio Bussolo and Jeffery I. Round, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 221, Public-Private Partnerships in Development: Three Applications in Timor Leste, by José Braz, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 222, Public Opinion Research, Global Education and Development Co-operation Reform: In Search of a Virtuous Circle, by Ida McDonnell, Henri-Bernard Solignac Lecomte and Liam Wegimont, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 223, Building Capacity to Trade: What Are the Priorities?, by Henry-Bernard Solignac Lecomte, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 224, Of Flying Geeks and O-Rings: Locating Software and IT Services in India's Economic Development, by David O'Connor, November 2003.

Document de travail No. 225, Cap Vert: Gouvernance et Développement, by Jaime Lourenço and Colm Foy, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 226, Globalisation and Poverty Changes in Colombia, by Maurizio Bussolo and Jann Lay, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 227, The Composite Indicator of Economic Activity in Mozambique (ICAE): Filling in the Knowledge Gaps to Enhance Public-Private Partnership (PPP), by Roberto J. Tibana, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 228, Economic-Reconstruction in Post-Conflict Transitions: Lessons for the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), by Graciana del Castillo, November 2003.